
September 19, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Agenda 
Posted September 15, 2023 
Page 1 of 3 
 

BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY 
Our Mission - “To provide a high quality supply of water and reliable service to all 

customers at a fair and reasonable rate.” 
   Finance/Public Relations/Education and Personnel 

Standing Committee Meeting Agenda 
Committee Members: Director McKenzie & Director Dicht 

 
BOARD MEETING OFFICE                                                                September 19, 2023                        
1720 N. CHEROKEE TR.                                                                                                    Time – 4:00 P.M.  
LANDERS, CALIFORNIA 92284 
 

PUBLIC AND BOARD WISHING TO PARTICIPATE REMOTELY 
**TELECONFERENCE LINE THRU ZOOM 669-900-6833** 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85707878455?pwd=YkhZclZ3L3pPbjdEWHpuZjFBcFkwQT09 

Passcode: 734244 
Or 

Dial: 1-669-900-6833 
Webinar ID: 857 0787 8455 

Passcode: 734244 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Discussion and Action Items - The Committee Directors and Staff will discuss the following items, 
and the Committee will consider taking action, if so inclined. 
 
The Public is invited to comment on any item on the agenda during discussion of that item.    
When giving your public comment, please have your information prepared. If you wish to be 
identified for the record, then please state your name.  Due to time constraints, each member of 
the public will be allotted three-minutes to provide their public comment. 
 
1. Review Resolution No. 23R-XX Adopting the Employee Handbook for the Purposes of 

Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of Personnel/Human Resources 
Matters  

 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85707878455?pwd=YkhZclZ3L3pPbjdEWHpuZjFBcFkwQT09


September 19, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Agenda 
Posted September 15, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 
 

2. Consent Items – The following items are expected to be routine and non-controversial and 
will be acted on by the Board at one time without discussion, unless a member of the Public 
or member of the Board requests that the item be held for discussion or further action. 

 
a. FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes July 18, 2023 
b. PARS Investment Statement June and July, 2023 
c. CLASS (CA Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System “Pool Fact Sheet” 

 
Recommended Action: 
Approve as presented. 
 
3. Public Comment Period 
 
Any person may address the Board on any matter within the Agency’s jurisdiction on items not 
appearing on this agenda. 

 
When giving your public comment, please have your information prepared. If you wish to be 
identified for the record, then please state your name.  Due to time constraints, each member of 
the public will be allotted three minutes to provide their public comment.  State Law prohibits 
the Board of Directors from discussing or taking action on items not included on the agenda. 
 
4. Verbal Reports - Including Reports on Courses/Conferences/Meetings. 

1. Committee Members’ Comments/Reports  
2. General Manager’s Report  

 
5. Adjournment 
In accordance with the requirements of California Government Code Section 54954.2, this 
agenda has been posted in the main lobby of the Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency, 622 S. 
Jemez Trail, Yucca Valley, CA not less than 72 hours if prior to a Regular meeting, date and time 
above; or in accordance with California Government Code Section 54956 this agenda has been 
posted not less than 24 hours if prior to a Special meeting, date and time above.  
 
As a general rule, agenda reports or other written documentation have been prepared or 
organized with respect to each item of business listed on the agenda. 
 
Copies of these materials and other disclosable public records in connection with an open session 
agenda item, are also on file with and available for inspection at the Office of the Agency 
Secretary, 622 S. Jemez Trail, Yucca Valley, California, during regular business hours, 8:00 A.M. to 
4:30 P.M., Monday through Friday.  If such writings are distributed to members of the Board of 
Directors on the day of a Board meeting, the writings will be available at the entrance to the 
Board of Directors meeting room at the Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency.  
 



September 19, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Agenda 
Posted September 15, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 
 

Internet: Once uploaded, agenda materials can also be viewed at www.bdvwa.org 
 
Public Comments: You may wish to submit your comments in writing to assure that you are able 
to express yourself adequately.  
 
Per Government Code Section 54954.2, any person with a disability who requires a modification 
or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in the meeting, 
should contact the Board's Secretary at 760-364-2315 during Agency business hours. 
 

http://www.bdvwa.org/




BIGHORN DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY  
FINANCE/ PUBLIC RELATIONS/PERSONNEL/EDUCATION  

AGENDA ITEM SUBMITTAL 
 

Meeting Date:  September 19, 2023 
 
To: Board of Directors      Budgeted:  N/A 
        Budgeted Amount: N/A 
        Cost: N/A 
  
From: Marina D. West General Counsel Approval: Obtained 
 CEQA Compliance: N/A 
 
Subject: Review Resolution No. 23R-XX Adopting the Employee Handbook for the Purposes of 

Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of Personnel/Human Resources 
Matters – Update to Current Best Practices  

___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY        
 
The Finance/Personnel Committee (FPREP) is asked to review the changes proposed to the Employee 
Handbook submitted by the Agency’s Special Counsel, Ms. Brett Overby, Liebert Cassidy Whitmore 
(LCW).  These changes are intended to clarify language in the latest version of the handbook. The changes 
relate to a discrepancy in vacation accruals, vacation accrual caps based on tenure and the manner in 
which the Agency will annually manage accrual payouts exceeding the individual caps.  These changes 
are summarized in the attached resolution.  
 
Staff recommends the Committee review the proposed Resolution No. 23R-XX amending the Employee 
Handbook as recommended by legal counsel. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends the Committee move the following action to the full Board for further review and 
consideration.   
 
That the Board considers taking the following action(s): 
 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 23R-XX Adopting the Employee Handbook for the Purposes of 
Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of Personnel/Human Resources 
Matters. 

 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
 
Special counsel for personnel matters, Liebert Cassidy Whitmore’s Ms. Brett Overby was consulted about 
a perceived discrepancy in the Employee Handbook, last updated in 2022.  Counsel has advised staff that 



it is necessary to formally amend the handbook, by resolution, to clarify the conflicting language in Article 
7.2 Vacations.   
 
Staff is recommending the Board adopt the Resolution which amend Article 7.2 Vacations to clearly 
specify that vacation time accruals are not forfeited once the cap is reached but are reduced through a 
payout in accordance with a specific formula. The specificity is necessary due to federal Internal Revenue 
Service rules concerning payout of accrued vacation and the fact that the benefit is specific to length of 
service and therefore, different accrual caps. 
 
The Agency has always allowed a payout of excess vacation time but during the 2022 review it was 
discovered that federal law dictates how such processes are to be implemented.   

Attached is Exhibit A, which contains details of the previous handbook language (Resolution No. 20R-21) 
and the proposed handbook language, which contains the conflicting statements (Resolution No. 22R-
13).   

The revised Employee Handbook is also attached with the revisions properly inserted into the text (pages 
68-69). 

PRIOR RELEVANT BOARD ACTION(S) 
8/9/2022 Motion No. 22-032 Adopt Resolution No. 22R-13 Adopting the Employee Handbook for the 
Purposes of Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of Personnel/Human Resources 
Matters. 
5/18/2022 Finance/Personnel Committee (FPREP) Review Proposed Changes to Employee Handbook 
Language provided by Agency Special Counsel Brett Overby, Liebert Cassidy Whitmore. 
10/13/2020 Motion No. 20-064 Motion to adopt Resolution No. 20R-21 Adopting the Employee 
Handbook for the Purposes of Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of 
Personnel/Human Resources Matters. 
9/16/2020 Finance/Personnel Committee (FPREP) Review Proposed Changes to Employee Handbook 
Language Regarding Overtime Rate of Pay During Stand-by and Requirement for Response Time to 
Return to Work During Stand-by. 
7/15/2020 Finance/Personnel Committee (FPREP) Review Proposed Changes to Employee Handbook 
Language to Conform to Requirements from Special Districts Risk Management Authority Regarding the 
Agency’s Definition of a “Domestic Partner” and Discuss Increasing Safety Boot Allowance for Applicable 
Employee Positions. 
4/28/2020 Motion No. 20-032 Resolution No. 20R-11 Adopting the Employee Handbook for the 
Purposes of Establishing the Rules and Procedures for the Conduct of Personnel/Human Resources 
Matters – One Amendment CalPERS Statutory Reportable Compensation:  Uniform Allowance Defined. 
  



EXHIBIT A  
 

PREVIOUS Handbook Language (Resolution No. 20R-11) 
 
7.2 VACATIONS 
 
Vacation periods should be taken annually with the approval of the General Manager at such time as will 
not impair the work schedule or efficiency of the Agency but with consideration given to the well-being 
of the employee.  No employee shall lose earned vacation leave time because of work urgency.  If an 
employee has reached the maximum allowed unused balance and is unable to take vacation leave due to 
work urgency the employee shall be compensated for up to fifty percent (50%) of the accrued vacation 
balance with the remaining amount remaining available for use.  Otherwise, employees are not allowed 
to “cash out” vacation. 
 

CURRENT Handbook Language (Resolution No. 22R-13) 
 

7.2 VACATIONS 
 
Paragraph inserted in 2022:   
 

Paid vacation leave may not be used until it is earned.  No employee may accrue more than the applicable 
maximum allowed unused balance set forth above.  When an employee reaches the applicable maximum 
allowed unused balance, the employee shall cease earning paid vacation leave until their leave balance 
falls below the applicable maximum allowed unused balance. 

Paragraph inserted in 2022 to address the IRS conditions for annual payout in excess of accrual caps: 
 

On October 1 of each year, the Agency will automatically “cash out” accrued vacation leave in excess of 
the 320 hour cap for each employee who has accrued vacation leave in excess of the 320 hour cap. 
Otherwise, employees are not allowed to “cash out” vacation leave.  Any employee separating from the 
Agency will be paid for any accrued unused paid vacation leave at their rate of pay at the time of 
separation. 

  



 

PROPOSED Handbook Language (Resolution No. 23R-XX) 
 
Amend Article 7.2 Vacations by modification of 4th paragraph to read:  

Paid vacation leave may not be used until it is earned.  When an employee reaches the applicable 
maximum allowed unused balance, the employee’s paid vacation leave will be paid put as set forth 
below. 

Amend Article 7.2 Vacations by modification of 7th paragraph to read: 

On October 1 of each year, the Agency will automatically “cash out” accrued vacation leave in excess of 
one-half of the maximum allowed unused balance for each employee who has accrued vacation leave in 
excess of their respective maximum allowed unused balance. Otherwise, employees are not allowed to 
“cash out” vacation leave.  Any employee separating from the Agency will be paid for any accrued unused 
paid vacation leave at their rate of pay at the time of separation. 

 
  



 
Accrual Schedule – Has remained unchanged between versions 

 

LENGTH OF SERVICE FROM BENEFIT DATE 
ANNUAL VACATION 

ALLOWANCE 

ACCRUAL RATE 

PER STRAIGHT 

TIME HOURS 

WORKED 

MAXIMUM 

ALLOWED UNUSED 

BALANCE 

    

Date of hire through 4th year: 80 hours per year .0385 160 hours 

5th year (1461st day) through 10th year (3650st day): 120 hours per year .0575 240 hours 

11th year (3651st day) and thereafter: 160 hours per year .0770 320 hours 

 
 
 
 
 
 





Page 1 of 2 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
XX XX, 2023 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 23R-XX  
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 OF BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY 

ADOPTING THE REVISED EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK FOR PURPOSES  
OF ESTABLISHING THE RULES AND PROCEDURES 

 FOR THE CONDUCT OF PERSONNEL/HUMAN RESOURCE MATTERS 
 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 22R-13, the Board of Directors of the Bighorn-Desert View 
Water Agency ("Agency") adopted an updated and corrected Employee Handbook ("Employee 
Handbook") to govern and control the rules for employment of its employees and to specify the 
rules and procedures for the conduct of personnel/human resources matter pertaining to the 
Agency's staff; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Employee Handbook previously adopted by Resolution 22R-13 is in need 
of a minor correction following additional review by the Agency’s personnel attorney.  The 
amendment to the Employee Handbook is specific to Article 7.2 Vacations: 
 

1. Amend Article 7.2 Vacations by modification of 4th paragraph to read:  

Paid vacation leave may not be used until it is earned.  When an employee reaches 
the applicable maximum allowed unused balance, the employee’s paid vacation leave 
will be paid put as set forth below. 

2. Amend Article 7.2 Vacations by modification of 7th paragraph to read: 

On October 1 of each year, the Agency will automatically “cash out” accrued vacation 
leave in excess of one-half of the maximum allowed unused balance for each 
employee who has accrued vacation leave in excess of their respective maximum 
allowed unused balance. Otherwise, employees are not allowed to “cash out” 
vacation leave.  Any employee separating from the Agency will be paid for any accrued 
unused paid vacation leave at their rate of pay at the time of separation. 

 WHEREAS, an amended Employee Handbook has been prepared and reviewed by the 
Board of Directors of the Agency. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Agency as follows: 
 

1. That the appropriate Article(s) has been added or amended and referenced 
accurately elsewhere in the document; and 

2. That the Appendices should be incorporated by reference only as they are 
standalone documents approved by the Board of Directors via separate and distinct 
resolution or motion; and 



Page 2 of 2 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
XX XX, 2023 

3. That the amended Employee Handbook shall apply to all Agency employees; and 

4. That the amended Employee Handbook shall become effective immediately upon 
adoption of the Resolution; and 

5. That Resolution No. 22R-13 is hereby rescinded and of no further force and effect; 
and 

6. That the President and Secretary of the Board of Directors, the General Manager, and 
the Agency staff are hereby authorized and directed to take such further steps as are 
reasonable necessary and appropriate to implement this Resolution. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors to Bighorn-Desert View 
Water Agency this 12th day of September 2023. 

 
                                      
    BY:  
  
         
 _______________________________ 
                                         John Burkhart, Board President 

ATTEST:  
 
 
_____________________________________ 
 Megan Close-Dees, Board Secretary  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Official Seal 









BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 3 of 101 

6.6 SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE ............................... 65 

ARTICLE 7.0 EMPLOYEE LEAVES ......................................................................... 67 

7.1 HOLIDAYS....................................................................................................... 67 

7.2 VACATIONS .................................................................................................... 67 

7.3 SICK LEAVE .................................................................................................... 69 

7.4 OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE ..................................................................... 71 

7.5 CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT LEAVE POLICY ................................... 71 

7.6 LEAVE BECAUSE OF PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH, OR RELATED 
MEDICAL CONDITION ............................................................................................. 84 

7.7 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ................................................................................. 85 

7.8 MILITARY LEAVE ........................................................................................... 86 

7.9 JURY DUTY LEAVE ........................................................................................ 86 

7.10  OTHER COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING APPEARANCES 86 

7.11 LEAVE FOR VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, SEXUAL ASSAULT, 
STALKING, OR OTHER CRIMES ............................................................................. 87 

7.12 TIME OFF FOR VOTING .............................................................................. 88 

7.13 CHILD SUSPENSION LEAVE...................................................................... 88 

7.14  SCHOOL-RELATED LEAVE: SCHOOL OR LICENSED DAY CARE 
ACTIVITY LEAVE ..................................................................................................... 89 

ARTICLE 8.0 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ......................................................................... 90 

8.1 HEALTH INSURANCE .................................................................................... 90 

8.2 DISABILITY INSURANCE ............................................................................... 90 

8.3 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION ............................................................ 90 

8.4 RETIREMENT PLAN ....................................................................................... 90 

8.5 SPECIAL COMPENSATION - UNIFORM ALLOWANCE ............................... 90 

8.6 EMPLOYEE OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES ................................................................ 91 

8.7  STUDENT LOAN ASSISTANCE BENEFIT .................................................... 92 

8.8 RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMS ......................................... 93 

8.9  WORKERS' COMPENSATION ...................................................................... 93 

8.10 DEFINITION OF DOMESTIC PARTNER ..................................................... 94 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT AND REVIEW OF EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK ... 95 

APPENDICES A - D ...................................................................................................... 96 

APPENDIX A ................................................................................................................ 97 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 4 of 101 

APPENDIX B ................................................................................................................ 98 

APPENDIX C ................................................................................................................ 99 

APPENDIX D .......................................................................................................................... 100 

 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 5 of 101 

ARTICLE 1.0 GENERAL STATEMENTS 

1.1 SHORT TITLE 

This resolution shall be known as “The Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency Employee 
Handbook” (“Employee Handbook” or “Handbook”). 

1.2 WORDS AND PHRASES 

For the purpose of this Employee Handbook, all words used herein in the present tense 
shall include the future tense; all words used in the plural shall include the singular; all 
words used in the singular shall include the plural; and all words used in the masculine 
gender shall include the feminine gender and vice versa. 

1.3 SEPARABILITY 

If any section, article, clause, or phrase of this Employee Handbook is for any reason held 
to be invalid, such a decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 
Employee Handbook. 

1.4 EFFECTIVE DATE 

This Employee Handbook shall become effective upon the date of its adoption and shall 
supersede all other Resolutions, Policies, or Ordinances in conflict with the Employee 
Handbook.   

1.5 SUBSEQUENT REVISIONS 

That the Board of Directors of the Agency may, by resolution duly passed upon the 
affirmative vote of the majority of the members of the Board of Directors, modify and 
amend the Employee Handbook at any time and from time to time. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 6 of 101 

ARTICLE 2.0 INTRODUCTORY POLICIES 

2.1 INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

This Employee Handbook sets forth the terms and conditions of the “at will” employment 
of all full and part-time employees. Individual written employment contracts may 
supersede some of the provisions of this Handbook, except for Section 3.1, At-Will 
Employment . This Handbook is designed to familiarize every employee with the Agency’s 
policies applicable to employees. Supervisors or managers can answer any questions 
employees may have. 

2.2 INTEGRATION CLAUSE AND THE RIGHT TO REVISE 

The Agency reserves the right to revise, modify, delete or add to any and all policies, 
procedures, work rules or benefits stated in this Handbook.  All such revisions, 
modifications, deletions, or additions become effective immediately upon their adoption 
by the Agency Board of Directors.  Any written changes to this Handbook will be 
distributed to all employees so that employees will be aware of the new policies or 
procedures.  No oral statements or representations can in any way change or alter the 
provisions of this Handbook.  This Handbook contains the terms and conditions of the 
employee’s “at will” employment.  Nothing in this Employee Handbook, or any other 
personnel document, including benefit plan descriptions, creates or is intended to create 
a promise or representation of continued employment for any employee.  This Employee 
Handbook supersedes all prior employee handbooks and any other conflicting policies.   

2.3 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

This Agency affords equal employment opportunity for all qualified applicants and 
employees to all terms of employment with the Agency, including, but not limited to, 
compensation, hiring, training, promotion, transfer, discipline, and termination. Agency 
policy prohibits unlawful discrimination against applicants and employees based on the 
applicant or employee’s race, color, religious creed, sex, marital status, age (40 and over), 
national origin, ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, sexual 
orientation, gender,  gender identity, gender expression, genetic information, military and 
veteran status, or any other basis protected by applicable federal, state or local laws.  Any 
employee or applicant who believes they have experienced any form of employment 
discrimination or abusive conduct are encouraged to report the conduct immediately by 
using the complaint procedures provided in these Policies, or by contacting the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), or the Department of Fair Employment 
and Housing (“DFEH”). 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 7 of 101 

2.4 EQUAL PAY ACT POLICY 

The Agency follows all applicable state and federal laws requiring equal pay for 
employees who perform substantially similar work.  Substantially similar work is work that 
is mostly similar in skill, effort, and responsibility, and performed under similar working 
conditions.  The Agency prohibits paying an employee less than another employee of the 
opposite sex, of another race, or of another ethnicity who is performing substantially 
similar work.  The Agency prohibits retaliation against any employee who invokes or 
assists in the enforcement of the Equal Pay Act.  The Agency further prohibits retaliation 
against employees for inquiring about or discussing wages. 

If employees believe they are not being paid the same wage as other employees engaged 
in substantially similar work of a different race, ethnicity or sex, or they are being retaliated 
against for inquiring about or discussing wages, they should report any concerns to the 
General Manager. 

2.5 POLICY AGAINST HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION, AND RETALIATION 

A. Policy Statement 

The Agency strictly prohibits harassment, discrimination, and retaliation because of an 
individual’s protected classification.  Protected classification  includes sex, gender, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, gender expression, genetic information, race, color, ancestry, 
national origin, religious creed, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, 
age (40 and over), marital status, military and veteran status, or any other basis protected 
by law.  This policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, or retaliation for the following 
reasons: (1) an individual’s protected classification; (2) the perception that an individual 
has a protected classification; or (3) the individual associates with a person who has or is 
perceived to have a protected classification. 

B. Application 

1. Scope of Policy 

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment, internships, and volunteer 
opportunities, including, but not limited to, recruitment, selection, testing, hiring, 
placement, upgrading, promotion/demotion, transfer, layoff, recall, disciplinary action, 
termination, rates of pay, leave of absence, benefits, and training. 

2. Covered Individual 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 8 of 101 

This policy applies to all applicants for employment at the Agency; all elected or appointed 
officials of the Agency; all interns, volunteers, and contractors; and all employees of the 
Agency regardless of rank or title, including, but not limited to, full- and part-time 
employees, per diem employees, temporary employees, and persons working under 
contract for the Agency.   

C. Purpose 

The Agency is committed to preventing harassment, discrimination, and retaliation in the 
workplace.  The Agency has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this policy. 
Conduct need not violate either federal or state law in order to constitute a violation of this 
policy.  A single act by an Agency employee may constitute a violation of this policy and 
provide sufficient grounds for the Agency to discipline the employee.  This policy 
establishes a complaint procedure by which the Agency will investigate and resolve 
complaints of harassment, discrimination, and retaliation by and against Agency covered 
individuals. The Agency encourages all covered individuals to report any conduct that 
they believe violates this policy as soon as possible.  The Agency expressly prohibits any 
retaliation against an employee because they filed or supported a complaint or because 
they participated in the investigation or complaint resolution process. Individuals found to 
have retaliated against an employee in violation of this policy will be subject to appropriate 
sanction or disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

D. Protected Activity 

This policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, and retaliation because of an individual’s 
protected activity.  Protected activity includes, but is not be limited to, the following: (1) 
making a request for an accommodation for a disability; (2) making a request for 
accommodation for religious beliefs; (3) making a complaint under this policy; (4) 
opposing violations of this policy; or (5) participating in an investigation under this policy. 

E. Harassment Defined 

This policy prohibits harassment of a covered individual because of the individual’s actual 
or perceived protected classification. Harassment includes, but is not limited to, the 
following conduct: 

1. Verbal acts, such as derogatory, offensive or inappropriate speech, such 
as epithets, slurs or stereotypical comments, or verbal propositions 
made on the basis of the individual’s protected classification. This 
includes, but is not limited to, comments, stories, and jokes about 
appearance, dress, physical features, gender identification, and race. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 9 of 101 

2. Physical acts, such as assault, impeding or blocking movement, 
offensive touching, or physical interference with normal work or 
movement. This includes, but is not limited to, pinching, grabbing, 
patting, or making explicit or implied job threats or promises in return for 
submission to physical acts. 

3. Visual acts, such as derogatory, offensive or inappropriate, posters, 
cartoons, emails, pictures or drawings related to a protected 
classification. 

4. Unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other acts 
of a sexual nature, where submission is made a term or condition of 
employment, where submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as 
the basis for employment decisions, or where the conduct is intended to 
or actually does unreasonably interfere with an individual’s work 
performance or create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working 
environment. 

F. Discrimination Defined 

This policy prohibits treating a covered individual differently and adversely because of the 
individual’s actual or perceived protected classification; because the individual associates 
with a person who is or is perceived to be a member of a protected classification; or 
because the individual participates in a protected activity as defined in this policy. 

G. Retaliation Defined 

Retaliation occurs when an employer takes adverse action against a covered individual 
because of the individual’s protected activity as defined in this policy.  “Adverse action” 
may include, but is not limited to, the following actions: (1) disciplinary action; (2) 
counseling; (3) taking sides because an individual has reported harassment or 
discrimination; (4) spreading rumors about a complainant or about someone who 
supports or assists the complainant or who participates in the investigation; (5) shunning 
or avoiding an individual who reports harassment or discrimination; or (6) making real or 
implied threats of intimidation to prevent or deter an individual from reporting harassment 
or discrimination. 

H. Complaint Procedure 

1. Proactive Approach 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 10 of 101 

The Agency takes a proactive approach to potential policy violations and will conduct an 
investigation if its supervisory or management employees become aware that 
harassment, discrimination or retaliation occurred or may be occurring, regardless of 
whether the recipient or third party reports a potential violation. 

2. Internal Reporting Procedure 

A covered individual who believes they have been subjected to harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation in violation of this policy may make a complaint, either orally 
or in writing, to any supervisor, manager, or the General Manager, without regard to any 
chain of command. 

Additionally, any supervisors or managers who receive a complaint of, observe, or 
otherwise become aware of harassment, discrimination, or retaliation in violation of this 
policy, should immediately report it, preferably in writing, to the General Manager. 

3. External Reporting Procedure 

A covered individual who believes they have been subjected to harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation may file a complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission (“EEOC”) and/or the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
("DFEH").  These administrative agencies provide a complaint process as well as certain 
legal remedies if the applicable agency determines that a violation of the law occurred.  
The nearest EEOC and DFEH offices are listed on the internet and in the phone book 
under government agencies.    Employees may also check the posters that are located 
on Agency bulletin boards for EEOC and DFEH office locations and telephone numbers. 

I. Internal Complaint and Investigation Procedure 

Upon receiving notification of a complaint regarding harassment, discrimination, or 
retaliation, the General Manager or a qualified internal or outside investigator designated 
by the General Manager will complete the following steps: 

1. Provide the complainant with a copy of this policy, and notify the  
complainant in a timely manner that their complaint has been received 
and will be investigated.   

2. Authorize and supervise a fair, timely, and thorough investigation of the 
complaint and/or investigate the complaint.  The investigation will 
usually include interviews with the following individuals: (1) the 
complainant; (2) the accused (e.g., the subject of the investigation); (3) 
witnesses to the conduct at issue in the complaint; and (4) other persons 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 11 of 101 

who have relevant knowledge concerning the allegations in the 
complaint. 

3. Review the factual information gathered during the investigation to 
determine whether the alleged conduct violated the policy giving 
consideration to all factual information, the totality of the circumstances, 
including the nature of the conduct, and the context in which the alleged 
incidents occurred. 

4. Prepare a summary report of the determination as to whether the 
conduct violated this policy and provide such report to the Board of 
Directors. 

5. If conduct in violation of this policy occurred, take or recommend to the 
appointing authority prompt and effective remedial action.  The remedial 
action will be commensurate with the severity of the offense.  If discipline 
or sanctions are imposed, the level of discipline or sanctions will not be 
communicated to the complainant. 

6. Notify complainant and accused of the completion of the investigation 
and the results of the investigation in general terms. 

7. Take reasonable steps to protect the complainant from further 
harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation. 

In the event the harassment, discrimination, or retaliation complaint is against the General 
Manager, the Board of Directors shall be responsible for oversight of the investigation. 

J. Confidentiality 

All records and information relating to the investigation of any alleged harassment and 
resulting disciplinary action shall be confidential, except to the extent disclosure is 
required by law, as part of the investigatory or disciplinary process, or as otherwise 
reasonably necessary. 

The Agency will make every effort to assure the confidentiality of complaints made under 
this policy to the greatest extent allowed by law. However, complete confidentiality may 
not be possible because of the Agency’s need to investigate the complaint and the due 
process rights of the subject of the complaint. 

The Agency expressly prohibits an employee who is interviewed during the course of an 
investigation from attempting to influence other employees, including employees who 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 12 of 101 

may have witnessed the underlying conduct at issue, while the investigation is open and 
ongoing. 

An employee may discuss their interview with a designated representative the employee’s 
legal representative.  The Agency will not disclose a completed investigation report except 
as it deems necessary to support a disciplinary action, to take remedial action, to defend 
itself in adversarial proceedings, or to comply with the law or court order. 

K. Employee Responsibilities 

Each non-supervisor or non-manager employee is responsible for the following: 

1. Treating all individuals in the workplace or on Agency worksites with 
respect and consideration. 

2. Modeling behavior that conforms to this policy. 

3. Participating in periodic trainings on personnel matters. 

4. Cooperating with the Agency’s investigations pursuant to this policy by 
responding fully and truthfully and in a timely manner to all questions 
posed during the investigation. 

5. Taking no actions to influence the complainant or any potential witness 
while the Agency’s investigation is ongoing. 

6. Reporting any act they believes in good faith constitutes harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation as defined in this policy, to their immediate 
supervisor or manager, any supervisor or manager, or the General 
Manager. 

In addition to the responsibilities listed above, each manager and supervisor employee is 
responsible for the following: 

1. Informing employees under their supervision of this policy. 

2. Taking all steps necessary to prevent harassment, discrimination and, 
retaliation from occurring, including, but not limited to, monitoring the 
work environment and taking immediate and appropriate action to stop 
violations (e.g., removing inappropriate pictures or correcting 
inappropriate language). 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 13 of 101 

3. Receiving and responding to complaints in a uniformly fair and serious 
manner. 

4. Documenting the steps taken to resolve such complaints. 

5. Following up with those who have complained to confirm that the 
offensive conduct about which they complained has stopped and that 
there have been no reprisals or retaliation or threats of reprisals or 
retaliation. 

6. Informing those who complain about harassment, discrimination, and/or 
retaliation of their option to contact the EEOC or DFEH and file a 
complaint about such activity. 

7. Assisting and/or advising employees regarding this policy. 

8. Assisting in the investigation of complaints involving subordinate 
employee(s). 

9. Where a complaint is substantiated, assisting in the development of a 
recommendation concerning an appropriate corrective or disciplinary 
action in accordance with these policies. 

10. Implementing appropriate corrective or disciplinary actions. 

11. Reporting potential violations of this policy to the General Manager, 
regardless of whether an employee complained about such conduct. 

12. Scheduling employees for training. 

2.6 REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION 

Absent undue hardship or direct threats to the health and safety of employee(s), the 
Agency provides employment-related reasonable accommodations to the following 
employees and applicants for employment: 

1. Qualified individuals with disabilities, both applicants and employees, to 
enable them to perform essential job functions; 

2. Employees with conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related 
medical condition, if she so requests, and with the advice of her health 
care provider; 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 14 of 101 

3. Employee victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to 
promote the safety of the employee victim while at work; and 

4. Employees who request reasonable accommodation to address a 
conflict between religious belief, practice, or observance and any 
employment requirement. 

A. Reasonable Medical Documentation and Certification 

1. For a Reasonable Accommodation 

If the disability or the need for reasonable accommodation is not obvious, the Agency 
may require the individual requesting such accommodation to provide reasonable medical 
documentation confirming the existence of the disability and the need for reasonable 
accommodation, along with the name and credentials of the individual’s health care 
provider.  If the individual provides insufficient documentation, the Agency will do the 
following: (1) explain the insufficiency of the documentation provided; (2) allow the 
employee or applicant to supplement the documentation in order to remedy the issue with 
the documentation provided; and (3) pursue the interactive process only to the extent that 
the request is consistent with the documentation provided. 

2. For a Reasonable Accommodation or Transfer Due to Pregnancy 
or Related Conditions 

If a pregnant employee, or an employee with a pregnancy-related condition, requests a 
reasonable accommodation or transfer due to pregnancy, the Agency will provide the 
employee with notice of the need for a medical certification within two (2) business days 
after the employee’s request for accommodation.  A medical certification confirming the 
need for a reasonable accommodation, including transfer, is sufficient if it contains: (1) a 
description of the requested accommodation or transfer; (2) a statement describing the 
medical advisability of the accommodation or transfer due to pregnancy; and (3) the date 
that the need for the accommodation or transfer will become necessary and the estimated 
duration of the accommodation or transfer. 

3. For a Victim of Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, or Stalking 

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking and who 
requests an accommodation to provide for their safety while at work must provide both of 
the following: 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 15 of 101 

• A written statement signed by the employee or an individual acting on the 
employee’s behalf, to certify that the accommodation is to address victim-
safety concerns while at work; and 

• A certification demonstrating the employee’s status as a victim of domestic 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking, which can be in the form of: (a) a police 
report indicating the employee’s victim status; (b) a court order separating the 
perpetrator from the employee or that the employee has appeared in court for 
that purpose; or (c) documentation from a medical professional or counselor 
that the employee is undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or 
abuse resulting from an act of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

1. Fitness for Duty Examinations: Authorization for Use of Medical 
Information 

During the course of a fitness for duty examination, the Agency will not seek or use 
information regarding an employee’s medical history, diagnoses, or course of treatment 
without an employee’s written authorization. 

1. Fitness for Duty Examinations: Applicants 

After the Agency extends a conditional offer of employment to an applicant, the Agency 
may require the applicant to submit to a fitness for duty examination that is job-related, 
necessary for efficient operations of the agency, and required of all applicants for the job 
classification. The Agency will notify an applicant or employee who is required to pass a 
medical and/or psychological examination of their right to obtain a second opinion at their 
expense and that they may submit such second opinions for consideration. 

2. Fitness for Duty Examinations: Current Employee 

The General Manager may require an employee to submit to a fitness for duty 
examination in order to determine whether the employee has a disability and is able to 
perform the essential functions of their job when there is significant evidence of the 
following: 

• The employee’s ability to perform one or more essential functions of their job 
has declined; or 

• Could cause a reasonable person to question whether an employee is still 
capable of performing one or more of their essential job duties, or is still capable 
of performing those duties in a manner that does not harm themselves or 
others. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 16 of 101 

3. Fitness for Duty Examinations: Role of Health Care Provider 

The Agency may request the applicant’s or employee’s health care provider to conduct a 
fitness for duty exam on the applicant or employee, or may request an Agency-selected 
health care provider to do so at the Agency’s expense.  The Agency will allow an 
employee paid time off to attend the exam.  The Agency will provide the heath care 
provider with a letter requesting a fitness for duty examination and a written description 
of the essential functions of the job.  The examination will be limited to determining 
whether the applicant or employee can perform the essential functions of their position 
and any work restrictions and/or functional limitations that apply to the applicant or 
employee.  The health care provider will examine the employee and provide the Agency 
with non-confidential information regarding whether: 

• The applicant or employee has a disability within the meaning of the FEHA; 

• The applicant or employee is fit to perform essential job functions; 

• Workplace restrictions or functional limitations apply to the applicant or 
employee, and the duration of the work restrictions or functional limitations; 

• There are any reasonable accommodations that would enable the employee to 
perform essential job functions; and 

• The employee’s continued employment poses a threat to the health and safety 
of themselves or others. 

Should the health care provider exceed the scope of the Agency’s request and provide 
confidential health information, without valid consent of the applicant or employee, the 
Agency will return the report to the health care provider and request another report that 
includes only the non-confidential fitness for duty information that the Agency has 
requested. 

4. Fitness for Duty Examinations: Medical Information from the 
Employee or Applicant 

If an employee or applicant submits medical information to the Agency from their own 
health care provider, the General Manager will not forward that information on to the 
health care provider who conducted the examination for the Agency, without the 
employee or applicant’s written authorization.  Upon receipt of the written authorization, 
the General Manager will request the Agency-paid health care provider to determine 
whether the information alters the original fitness for duty assessment. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 17 of 101 

2. Interactive Process 

After the occurrence of any of the above-stated circumstances that trigger the need to 
conduct an interactive process meeting, the General Manager will promptly arrange for a 
discussion or discussions, in person or via conference telephone call, with the applicant 
or employee and their designated representative, if any.  The purpose of the interactive 
communications will be to discuss in good faith all feasible potential reasonable 
accommodations.  The General Manager will document these communications in writing.  
The General Manager will initiate the interactive process when: 

• An applicant or employee with a known physical or mental disability or medical 
condition requests reasonable accommodation(s); 

• The Agency otherwise becomes aware of the need for an accommodation 
through a third party (e.g., a doctor’s note requesting an accommodation), or 
by observation of the employee’s work; 

• The Agency becomes aware of the possible need for an accommodation 
because the employee with a disability has exhausted workers’ compensation 
leave, California Family Rights Act leave, or other leave rights, but the 
employee and/or the employee’s health care provider indicate that further 
accommodation is still necessary for recuperative leave or other 
accommodation; 

• An employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions 
requests a reasonable accommodation or transfer based on the advice of her 
health care provider; 

• An employee with a physical or mental disability, regardless of cause, fails to 
return to work following pregnancy disability leave; 

• An employee-victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking requests 
a reasonable accommodation(s) for their safety at work; 

• An employee requests an accommodation to address a conflict between 
religious belief, observance, or practice and any employment requirement; or 

• An employer is aware of the need for a reasonable accommodation for an 
employee’s or applicant’s religious beliefs, observance or practices. 

3. Potential Accommodations for Applicants or Employees with 
Disabilities 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 18 of 101 

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process analysis will generally begin 
with a review of possible reasonable accommodations that would enable the individual to 
retain their current job.  The process will generally then move on to possible reasonable 
accommodations in other vacant jobs, for which the individual is qualified, if there is no 
reasonable accommodation in the current job that does not cause undue hardship, or that 
does not present a risk of harm to the individual or others.  The Agency will consider 
accommodations that the applicant or employee suggests, but has the right to select and 
implement any reasonable accommodation that it deems effective.  The range of potential 
reasonable accommodations includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

• Making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to, and usable 
by, individuals with disabilities, including, but not limited to, the following: 
acquisition or modification of equipment or devices; adjustment or 
modifications of examinations, training materials or policies; and/or the 
provision of qualified readers or interpreters; 

• Job restructuring; 

• Part-time or modified work schedules; 

• Paid or unpaid leave of absence of a finite duration that is likely to enable the 
employee to return to work at the end of the leave; 

• Preferential consideration to reassignment to a vacant, comparable position, 
except when such preference would violate a bona fide seniority system; 

• Reassignment to a vacant lower-paid position if there is no funded, vacant 
comparable position for which the individual is qualified for; or 

• Reassignment to a temporary position, if the individual agrees. 

4. Potential Accommodations for Employees Affected by Pregnancy 
and Related Medical Conditions 

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process will attempt to identify and 
implement a reasonable accommodation that is consistent with the medical certification 
applicable to the applicant or employee.  Whether an accommodation is reasonable is a 
case-by-case analysis that takes into account several factors, including, but not limited 
to: the employee’s medical needs; the duration of the needed accommodation; and the 
employer’s legally permissible past and current practices.  The range of potential 
accommodations includes, but is not limited to, the following: 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 19 of 101 

• Transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position for the duration of the 
pregnancy; 

• Change in or restructuring of work duties, such as modifying lifting 
requirements; 

• Providing more frequent breaks; 

• Providing seating; 

• Time off for medical appointments; and 

• Transfer temporarily to a job with equivalent pay and benefits that the employee 
is qualified to perform in order to accommodate reduced work schedule or 
intermittent leave. However, a reduction in work hours may be considered a 
form of pregnancy disability leave and deducted from the employee’s four (4) 
month pregnancy disability leave entitlement. 

5. Potential Accommodations for Employee-Victims of Domestic 
Violence, Sexual Assault, or Stalking 

Depending on the facts of each individual case, the interactive process analysis will 
review all possible accommodations that would enhance the safety of the employee victim 
at work. In determining what accommodation is reasonable, the Agency will consider the 
exigent circumstance or danger facing the employee.  The Agency will consider the 
preferences of the employee to be accommodated, but has the right to select and 
implement any accommodation that it deems effective.  The range of potential safety 
measure accommodations includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

• Transfer, reassignment, modified schedule; 

• Change in work telephone number; 

• Change in location of work station; 

• Installation of locks; 

• Assistance in documenting domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or a 
crime that occurs in the workplace; 

• The implementation of a safety procedure(s); 

• Adjustment to job structure, workplace facility, or work requirement; and 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 20 of 101 

• Referral to a victim assistance organization. 

6. Potential Accommodations for Religious Creed, Religious Dress 
Practice, or Religious Grooming Practice 

Depending on the facts of each case, the interactive process analysis will review all 
possible accommodations that would resolve the conflict between the religious belief, 
practice, or observance and any employment requirement. The Agency will consider the 
preference of the employee or applicant, but has the right to select and implement any 
accommodation that it deems effective. The range of potential accommodations includes, 
but is not limited to, the following: 

• Job restructuring or job reassignment (but not segregation from other 
employees or the public); 

• Modification of work practices, including dress or grooming; 

• Allowing time off in an amount equal to the amount of non-regularly scheduled 
time the employee has worked in order to avoid a conflict with their religious 
observances; and 

• Allowing alternatives to union membership or payment of union dues. 

7. Determination 

After the interactive process communications, the General Manager will review the 
information received, and determine: whether all available information has been 
reviewed; whether all potential accommodations that the applicant or employee has 
suggested have been considered; whether additional discussions with the applicant or 
employee would be helpful; whether the applicant’s or employee’s preferences have been 
taken into account; if there is a reasonable accommodation that would enable the 
applicant or employee to perform essential job functions without harming themselves or 
others; and if the accommodations would pose an undue hardship on the Agency finances 
or operations.  The General Manager will inform the applicant or employee of their 
determination in writing.  The General Manager will use their discretion based upon the 
particular facts of each case. 

8. Access to Medical Information Regarding Fitness for Duty 

Medical records and information regarding fitness for duty, or the need for an 
accommodation, will be maintained separately from non-medical records and information.  
Medical records and information regarding fitness for duty and the need for 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 21 of 101 

accommodation will be accessible only by the General Manager, the General Manager’s 
legal counsel, first aid and safety personnel in case of emergency, and supervisors who 
are responsible for identifying reasonable accommodations. Medical records and 
information contained therein may be released pursuant to federal and state law. 

 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 22 of 101 

ARTICLE 3.0 EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

3.1 AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT 

Agency personnel are employed on an at-will basis (only employees hired prior to 
December 20, 2005, are not “at will”).  This means that employment may be terminated 
with or without cause, and with or without notice, at any time by either the employee or 
the Agency.  Nothing in this Handbook shall limit the right to terminate at-will employment, 
with or without cause, or prior notice.  No individual Board member, manager, supervisor, 
or employee of the Agency has any authority to enter into an agreement for employment 
for any specified period of time or to make an agreement for employment other than “at-
will” employment.  Only the General Manager of the Agency has the authority to make an 
agreement for other than “at-will” employment, which is binding on the Agency only if it is 
in writing and approved by the Board of Directors. 

3.2 NEW HIRES 

After an offer of employment has been made and prior to the commencement of 
employment duties, a prospective employee for any position with the Agency may be 
examined by a medical doctor, designated by the Agency, to determine the prospective 
employee’s ability to perform the physical activity requirements of the job.  Additionally, 
the Agency will require prospective employees to submit to and pass a drug and/or 
alcohol screening test at the time of the physical examination if they will be assigned to a 
“safety-sensitive” position as set forth in Section 5.2, the Agency Drug and Alcohol Policy. 

Upon successful completion of the required physical examination, the supervisor of each 
newly hired employee will administer an orientation process.  The orientation process is 
designed to familiarize each newly hired employee with the Agency’s practices, policies, 
and benefit plans.  It includes their initial safety training, initial job training, the completion 
of required forms and documents, and any other job related information.  A checklist of 
the topics covered in the orientation process must be completed by the newly hired 
employee, signed by the employee and their supervisor, and will be maintained as part 
of the employee’s personnel records. 

The first ninety (90) days’ of continuous employment at the Agency is considered a 
probationary training period (“Training Period”).  During the Training Period, training 
employees do not accrue and are not eligible for benefits described in this Handbook, 
unless required by law.  During this time, employees will learn their job responsibilities 
and get acquainted with fellow employees and surroundings.  Also, during this time, 
supervisors will closely monitor the training employees’ job performance.  Upon 
completion of the Training Period, the General Manager will review the employee’s overall 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 23 of 101 

job performance.  Completion of the Training Period does not entitle an employee to 
remain employed by the Agency for any defined period of time as employment is “at will”.  
Both employee and the Agency are free, at any time, to end the employment relationship 
during or after the Training Period, consistent with employee’s at-will employment.  After 
completion of the Training Period, eligible employees will receive the benefits described 
in this Handbook, unless previously required by law. 

3.3 REGULAR EMPLOYEES 

Employees who have successfully completed their Training Period shall be known as 
"regular" employees.  Such employees may be either full-time or part-time.  The 
distinction between full-time and part-time depends upon the number of hours that an 
employee works per workweek. 

3.4 REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES 

Regular full-time employees are those normally scheduled to work 40 hours per 
workweek. Following the completion of the Training Period, regular full-time employees 
are eligible for the employee benefits described in this handbook, unless previously 
required by law. 

3.5 REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

Regular part-time employees may be assigned a work schedule in advance or may work 
on an as-needed basis. Regular part-time employees are eligible for employee benefits 
only as expressly provided for in this Handbook. 

3.6 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 

Temporary employees are those employed for short-term assignments.  Temporary 
employees are not eligible for employee benefits except where mandated by applicable 
law.  The physical examination for temporary employees may be waived by the General 
Manager. 

3.7 JOB DUTIES 

During the Training Period, a co-worker and/or supervisor will be assigned to explain the 
job responsibilities and the performance standards expected of the newly hired. (See 
Appendix A - Job Classification Descriptions).  Within the parameters of the job 
classification, the employee’s job responsibilities may change at any time during 
employment.  From time to time, employees may be asked to work on special projects or 
to assist with other work necessary or important to the operation of the Agency.  The 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 24 of 101 

employee’s cooperation and assistance in performing such additional work is an expected 
job responsibility.  The Agency reserves the right, at any time, with or without notice, to 
alter or change job responsibilities, reassign or transfer job positions, or assign additional 
job responsibilities for any employee. 

3.8 WORK SCHEDULES 

The Agency’s office is normally open for business between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 
4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday.  The General Manager will assign the employee’s 
work schedule.  All employees are expected to be ready to work at the start of their 
scheduled shifts.  If for some reason an employee is unable to be at work when their shift 
begins, they are required to notify their supervisor at least one half hour before their 
scheduled reporting time, and failure to do so may result in disciplinary action by the 
Agency.  Exchanging work schedules with other employees is strongly discouraged.  
However, if employees believe it is necessary for them to exchange schedules, they may 
make a request to their supervisor, who may or may not authorize such an exchange.   

3.9 MEAL AND REST PERIODS 

Overtime eligible employees are provided with a meal period, to be taken approximately 
in the middle of the workday.  Employees are allowed ten-minute rest periods for every 
four hours of work.  Rest periods may not be combined to shorten the workday or to 
extend the meal period.  Employees shall take meal and rest periods at a time designated 
by the employee’s supervisor. 

3.10 PERSONNEL RECORDS 

A. Confidential Files 

The Agency maintains a personnel file on each employee.  Files are kept for at least three 
years after separation of employment.  A personnel file will contain only material that the 
Agency deems necessary and relevant or that is required by law.  Personnel files are the 
property of the Agency, and access to the information they contain is restricted to protect 
employee privacy interests. 

B. Notification of Changes 

Each employee is responsible to promptly notify the General Manager or designee of any 
changes in their contact and benefits information, including: mailing address; telephone 
number; persons to contact in emergency; and number and names of dependents. 

C. Access to Applicant of Employee Medical Information 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 25 of 101 

All medical information about an employee or applicant is kept in separate medical files 
and is treated as confidential.  Access to employee or applicant medical information shall 
be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need to have such information for Agency 
business reasons, as determined in the Agency’s sole discretion, or if access is required 
by law, subpoena, or court order. In the case of an employee with a disability, managers 
and supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties 
of the employee and necessary accommodations. 

D. Employee Access to Personnel File 

1. Inspection of File:  A current employee may inspect their own 
personnel file, at reasonable times and at reasonable intervals, within 
30 days of a written request.  A former employee is entitled to inspect 
their personnel records one time per year.  A current or former employee 
and/or their representative, who wishes to review their personnel file 
should make a written request to the General Manager.  The inspection 
must occur in the presence of the General Manager or designee and: 
(1) at a location where the employee works and at a time other than the 
employee’s work time; or (2) at another agreed upon location without 
loss of compensation to the employee. 

2. Copies:  A current or former employee is entitled to receive a copy of 
their personnel records within 30 days after the employer receives a 
written request.  A current or former employee who wishes to receive 
such a copy should contact the General Manager or designee in writing. 
The Agency may charge a fee for the actual cost of copying. 

3. Representative’s Inspection:  If the current or former employee wishes 
to have another person/representative inspect their personnel file, they 
must provide the person/representative with written authorization. The 
General Manager or designee will notify the employee and/or 
representative of the date, time, and place of the inspection in writing. 

4. No Removal of File Documents:  No person inspecting a personnel file 
is permitted to add or remove any document or other item to/from the 
personnel file.  

5. Limitations on Access or Copying of Personnel File:  Prior to making a 
copy of personnel records or allowing inspection, the Agency may redact 
the names of nonsupervisory employees.  Under no circumstances will 
the Agency provide access or copying of the following categories of 

























































BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 53 of 101 

Excessive absenteeism or tardiness (whether excused or not) will not be tolerated. 

If the employee fails to report for work without notification to their supervisor and the 
absence continues for a period of three consecutive days, the Agency will consider that 
the employee has abandoned their employment and have voluntarily resigned. 

5.5 PERSONAL STANDARDS 

These personal standards are designed to promote the Agency’s legitimate and non-
discriminatory goals to promote workplace safety and a professional image that is 
consistent with the employee’s job duties and level of public contact. 

Employees are expected to wear clothing appropriate for the nature of the Agency’s 
business and the type of work performed. Clothing should be neat, clean, and in good 
repair. Employees are expected to avoid clothing that can create a safety hazard. 
Department managers may issue more specific guidelines. Violation of the Agency’s 
personal standards could result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

Field employees shall be issued uniforms, which they are required to wear daily.  It is the 
responsibility of the employees to launder their own uniforms.   

Field employees are required to wear approved steel toe safety shoes at all times and will 
be reimbursed up to $250 for one pair each year by the Agency.  It is the responsibility of 
the employee to purchase properly fitting footwear prior to reimbursement. 

Employees and visitors are required to wear safety equipment when visiting or working in 
an area designated as a “hard hat area.” 

Field employees, when leaving the Agency’s employment, shall return all uniforms to the 
Agency. 

Employees who have questions about how these standards apply to them, should be 
immediately raise these questions with their supervisor for consideration and 
determination. 

5.6 CUSTOMER RELATIONS 

The Agency is a service oriented business and all employees must remember that the 
customer is the first priority.  Customers are to be treated courteously and given proper 
attention at all times.  Never regard a customer's question or concerns as an interruption 
or an annoyance.  All customer inquiries must be addressed promptly and professionally.  
Never place a telephone caller on hold for an extended period.  Direct incoming calls to 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 54 of 101 

the appropriate person and make sure the call is received.  Employees are expected to 
be polite, courteous, prompt and attentive to every customer.  When a situation arises 
where the employee does not feel comfortable or capable of handling the problem, the 
supervisor or General Manager should be called immediately. 

5.7 CONFIDENTIALITY 

Each employee is responsible for safeguarding confidential information obtained in 
connection with his or her employment.  In the course of employment, employees may 
have access to confidential information regarding the Agency, its suppliers, its customers 
or fellow employees.  Employees shall not reveal or divulge any such confidential 
information.  This obligation to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall 
continue even after employment with the Agency ends.  Access to confidential information 
should be on a "need-to-know" basis and must be authorized by a supervisor.  Any breach 
of this policy will not be tolerated, and legal action may be taken by the Agency.   

5.8 BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 

No employee may accept a gift or gratuity from any customer, vendor, supplier, or other 
person doing business with the Agency that may give the appearance of undue influence 
or a conflict of interest regarding their business decision, transaction, or service.  
Employees must discuss any expenses paid by such persons for business meals or trips 
with the General Manager in advance of acceptance. 

5.9 FRAUD IN THE WORKPLACE 

A. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

To establish policy and procedures for clarifying acts that are considered to be fraudulent, 
describing the steps to be taken when fraud or other related dishonest activities are 
suspected, and providing procedures to follow in accounting for missing funds, restitution 
and recoveries. 

B. GENERAL 

The Agency is committed to protecting its assets against the risk of loss or misuse. 
Accordingly, it is the policy of the Agency to identify and promptly investigate any 
possibility of fraudulent or related dishonest activities against the Agency and, when 
appropriate, to pursue legal remedies available under the law. 

C. DEFINITIONS 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 55 of 101 

1. Fraud: Fraud and other similar irregularities include, but are not limited 
to: 

a. Claim for reimbursement of expenses that are not job-related or 
authorized by the current Agency policy. 

b. Forgery or unauthorized alteration of documents (checks, 
promissory notes, time sheets, independent contractor 
agreements, purchase orders, budgets, etc.). 

c. Misappropriation of Agency assets (funds, securities, supplies; 
furniture, equipment, etc.). 

d. Improprieties in the handling or reporting of money transactions. 

e. Authorizing or receiving payment for goods not received or 
services not performed. 

f. Computer-related activity involving unauthorized alteration, 
destruction, forgery, or manipulation of data or misappropriation 
of Agency-owned software. 

g. Misrepresentation of information on documents. 

h. Any apparent violation of Federal, State, or Local laws related to 
dishonest activities or fraud. 

i. Any violation of the Fair Political Practices Act, regulation of the 
Fair Political Practices Commission, or the Bighorn-Desert View 
Water Agency Conflict of Interest Code. 

2. Employee: In this context, employee refers to any individual or group of 
individuals who receive compensation, either full- or part-time, from the 
Agency. The term also includes any volunteer who provides services to 
the Agency through an arrangement with the Agency. 

3. Management: In this context, management refers to any administrator, 
manager, director, supervisor, or other individual who manages or 
supervises funds or other resources, including human resources. 

4. Personnel Department: In this context, Personnel Department refers to 
any person or persons assigned by the General Manager to investigate 
any fraud or similar activity. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 56 of 101 

5. External Auditor: In this context, External Auditor refers to independent 
audit professionals who perform annual audits of the Agency’s financial 
statements. 

D. INVESTIGATION 

1. It is the Agency’s intent to fully investigate any suspected acts of fraud, 
misappropriation, or other similar irregularity. An objective and impartial 
investigation will be conducted regardless of the position, title, and 
length of service or relationship with the Agency of any party who might 
be or become involved in or becomes the subject of such investigation. 

2. Each department of the Agency is responsible for instituting and 
maintaining a system of internal control to provide reasonable 
assurance for the prevention and detection of fraud, misappropriations, 
and other irregularities.  Management should be familiar with the types 
of improprieties that might occur within their area of responsibility and 
be alert for any indications of such conduct.  

3. The Personnel Department, in conjunction with the Agency Attorney, 
has the primary responsibility for the investigation of all activity as 
defined in this policy. 

4. Throughout the investigation, the Personnel Department will inform the 
General Manager of pertinent investigative findings. 

5. Employees will be granted whistle-blower protection when acting in 
accordance with this policy. When informed of a suspected impropriety, 
neither the Agency nor any person acting on behalf of the Agency shall: 

a. Dismiss or threaten to dismiss the employee, 

b. Discipline, suspend, or threaten to discipline or suspend the 
employee, 

c. Impose any penalty upon the employee, or 

d. Intimidate or coerce the employee. 

6. Violations of the whistle-blower protection will result in discipline up to 
and including dismissal. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 57 of 101 

7. Upon conclusion of the investigation, the results will be reported to the 
General Manager. 

8. The General Manager, following review of investigation results, will take 
appropriate action regarding employee misconduct. Disciplinary action 
can include termination, and referral of the case to the District Attorney’s 
Office for possible prosecution. 

9. The Agency will pursue every reasonable effort, including court ordered 
restitution, to obtain recovery of Agency losses from the offender, or 
other appropriate sources. 

E. PROCEDURES 

1. Board of Directors Responsibilities 

a. If a member of the Board of Directors has reason to suspect that 
a fraud has occurred, they shall immediately contact the General 
Manager (or contact the Agency Attorney if the General Manager 
is involved). 

b. The Board member shall not attempt to investigate the suspected 
fraud or discuss the matter with anyone other than the General 
Manager or Agency Attorney. 

c. The alleged fraud or audit investigation shall not be discussed 
with the media by any  person other than through the General 
Manager in consultation with the Agency Attorney  and the 
Personnel Department. 

2. Management Responsibilities 

a. Management is responsible for being alert to, and reporting 
fraudulent or related dishonest activities in their areas of 
responsibility. 

b. Each manager should be familiar with the types of improprieties 
that might occur in their area and be alert for any indication that 
improper activity, misappropriation, or dishonest activity is or was 
in existence in their area. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 58 of 101 

c. When an improper activity is detected or suspected, 
management should determine whether an error or mistake has 
occurred or if there may be dishonest or fraudulent activity. 

d. If management determines a suspected activity may involve fraud 
or related dishonest activity, they should contact the General 
Manager immediate supervisor (or contact the Agency Attorney 
if the General Manager is involved).  

e. Department Directors should inform the General Manager (or 
contact the Agency Attorney or Personnel Director if the General 
Manager is involved).  

f. Management should not attempt to conduct individual 
investigations, interviews, or  interrogations. However, 
management is responsible for taking appropriate corrective 
actions to ensure adequate controls exist to prevent reoccurrence 
of improper actions. 

g. Management should support the Agency’s responsibilities and 
cooperate fully with the Personnel Department, other involved 
departments, and law enforcement agencies in the detection, 
reporting, and investigation of criminal acts, including the 
prosecution of  offenders. 

h. Management must give full and unrestricted access to all 
necessary records and personnel. All Agency furniture and 
contents, including desks and computers, are open to inspection 
at any time.  There is no assumption of privacy. 

i. In dealing with suspected dishonest or fraudulent activities, great 
care must be taken.  Therefore, management should avoid the 
following: 

1. Incorrect accusations. 

2. Alerting suspected individuals that an investigation is 
underway. 

3. Treating employees unfairly. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 59 of 101 

4. Making statements that could lead to claims of false 
accusations or other offenses. 

j. In handling dishonest or fraudulent activities, management has 
the responsibility to: 

1. Make no contact (unless requested) with the suspected 
individual to determine  facts or demand restitution. 
Under no circumstances should there be any reference to 
“what employees did”, “the crime”, “the fraud”, “the 
misappropriation”, etc. 

2. Avoid discussing the case, facts, suspicions, or allegations 
with anyone outside the Agency, unless specifically 
directed to do so by the Agency Attorney. 

3. Avoid discussing the case with anyone inside the Agency 
other than employees who have a need to know such as 
the General Manager, Personnel Department, or Agency 
Attorney or law enforcement personnel. 

4. Direct all inquiries from the suspected individual, or their 
representative, to the General Manager or Agency 
Attorney. All inquiries by an attorney of the suspected 
individual should be directed to the Agency Attorney. All 
inquiries from the media should be directed to the General 
Manager. 

5. Take appropriate corrective and disciplinary action, up to 
and including dismissal, after consulting with the 
Personnel Director, in conformance with the Agency’s 
Personnel Policies and Procedures. 

3. Employee Responsibilities 

a. A suspected fraudulent incident or practice observed by, or made 
known to, an employee must be reported to the employee’s 
supervisor for reporting to the General Manager.  

b. When the employee believes the supervisor may be involved in 
the inappropriate activity, the employee shall make the report 
directly to the General Manager (or contact the Agency Attorney 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 60 of 101 

if the next higher level of management and/or the General 
Manager is involved). 

c. The reporting employees shall refrain from further investigation of 
the incident, confrontation with the alleged violator, or further 
discussion of the incident with anyone, unless requested by the 
General Manager, Personnel Department, Agency Attorney or 
law enforcement personnel. 

4. Personnel Department Responsibilities 

a. Upon assignment by the General Manager, the Personnel 
Department or General Manager’s designee will promptly 
investigate the fraud. 

b. In all circumstances where there appears to be reasonable 
grounds for suspecting that a  fraud has taken place, the 
Personnel Department, in consultation with the Agency Attorney, 
will contact the County of San Bernardino Sheriff Department. 

c. The Personnel Department shall be available and receptive to 
receiving relevant, confidential information to the extent allowed 
by law. 

d. If evidence is uncovered showing possible dishonest or 
fraudulent activities, the  General Manager or Personnel 
Department will proceed as follows: 

1. Discuss the findings with the appropriate 
management/supervisor and the Department Director. 

2. Advise management, if the case involves staff members, 
to meet with the General Manager (or his/her designated 
representative) to determine if disciplinary actions should 
be taken.  Any disciplinary action taken will be in 
accordance with the Agency Personnel Rules. 

3. Report to the External Auditor such activities in order to 
assess the effect of the illegal activity on the Agency’s 
financial statements. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 61 of 101 

4. Coordinate with the Agency’s Risk Management insurer 
regarding notification to insurers and filing of insurance 
claims. 

5. Take immediate action, in consultation with the Agency 
Attorney, to prevent the theft, alteration, or destruction of 
evidentiary records. Such action shall include, but is not 
limited to: 

a. Removing the records and placing them in a secure 
location, or limiting access to the location where the 
records currently exist. 

b. Preventing the individual suspected of committing the 
fraud from having access to the records. 

e. In consultation with the Agency Attorney and the County of San 
Bernardino Sheriff Department, the Personnel Department may 
disclose particulars of the investigation with potential witnesses if 
such disclosure would further the investigation. 

f. If the Personnel Department is contacted by the media regarding 
an alleged fraud or audit investigation, the Personnel 
Department will consult with the General Manager and the 
Agency Attorney, as appropriate, before responding to a media 
request for information or interview. 

g. At the conclusion of the investigation, the Personnel Department 
will document the results in a  confidential memorandum 
report to the General Manager and the Agency Attorney.  If the 
report concludes that the allegations are founded, the report will 
be forwarded to the County of San Bernardino Sheriff 
Department. 

h. Unless exceptional circumstances exist, a person under 
investigation for fraud is to be given notice in writing of essential 
particulars of the allegations following the conclusion of the audit. 
Where notice is given, the person against whom allegations are 
being made may submit a written explanation to the Personnel 
Department no later than seven calendar days after notice is 
received. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 62 of 101 

i. The Personnel Department will be required to make 
recommendations to the appropriate department for assistance 
in the prevention of future similar occurrences. 

j. Upon completion of the investigation, including all legal and 
personnel actions, all records, documents, and other evidentiary 
material, obtained from the department under investigation will be 
returned by the Personnel Department to that department. 

F. EXCEPTIONS 

There will be no exceptions to this policy unless provided and approved in writing by the 
General Manager and the Agency Attorney. 

 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 63 of 101 

ARTICLE 6.0 OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

6.1 EMPLOYER PROPERTY 

Lockers, desks, vehicles, and tools are Agency property and must be maintained 
according to Agency rules and regulations.  Employees should have no expectation of 
privacy in Agency property.  The Agency reserves the right to search all Agency property 
at any time with or without notice.  All Agency property must be kept clean and are to be 
used for work-related purposes only.  Prior written authorization must be obtained from a 
supervisor before any Agency property may be removed from the premises. 

6.2 USE OF AGENCY ELECTRONIC RESOURCES 

The Agency uses various forms of electronic resources including, but not limited to 
computers, laptops, e-mail, telephones, Internet, cell phones, personal digital devices 
(“PDAs”), software, databases, hardware, digital files, and networks (“Electronic 
Resources”).  All Electronic Resources remain the sole property of the Agency and are to 
be used only for Agency business.   

The Agency periodically and without prior notice, monitors, reviews, accesses, or 
retrieves data from its Electronic Resources, including electronic communications and 
content contained in or transmitted through Agency Electronic Resources.  Agency 
employees must provide the agency with the employee’s username or password for any 
Agency Electronic Resources issued equipment or resource.  Personal passwords may 
be used for purposes of security, but the use of personal passwords or delete functions 
does not restrict the Agency’s access.  As a result, Agency employees have no 
expectation of privacy in their use of any Agency Electronic Resources. 

Electronic communication and media may not be used in any manner that would be 
discriminatory, harassing, or obscene, or for any other purpose that is illegal, against 
Agency policy, or not in the best interest of the Agency. 

Employees who misuse electronic communications and engage in defamation, copyright 
or trademark infringement, misappropriation of trade secrets, discrimination, harassment, 
or related actions will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

Employees may not install personal software on Agency computer systems. 

All electronic information created by any employee using any means of electronic 
communication is the property of the Agency and remains the property of the Agency.  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 64 of 101 

Employees are not permitted to access the electronic communications of other 
employees or third parties unless directed to do so by Agency management. 

No employee may install or use anonymous e-mail transmission programs or encryption 
of e-mail communications, except as specifically authorized by the General Manager. 

Employees who use devices on which information may be received and/or stored, 
including but not limited to cell phones, cordless phones, portable computers, fax 
machines, and voice mail communications are required to use these methods in strict 
compliance with the trade secrets and confidential communication policy established by 
the Agency. These communications tools should not be used for communicating 
confidential or sensitive information or any trade secrets. 

Access to the Internet, websites, and other types of Agency-paid computer access are to 
be used for Agency-related business only. Any information about the Agency, its products 
or services, or other types of information that will appear in the electronic media about the 
Agency must be approved by the General Manager before the information is placed on 
an electronic information resource that is accessible to others. 

The Agency’s email system is an official communication tool for Agency business.  The 
Agency establishes and assigns official email addresses to each employee as the Agency 
deems necessary.  Employees must send all Agency communications that are sent via 
email to and from their official Agency email address.  Employees are prohibited from 
using their private email address when communicating Agency business via email.  
Should an email related to Agency business be sent to an employee’s personal email 
account, the email should be immediately forwarded to the employee’s Agency email 
account and responded to accordingly. 

Employees may use Agency telephones, cell phones, internet access, and e-mail for 
incidental personal communications provided that the use: 

1. Is kept to a minimum and limited to break times or non-working hours; 

2. Does not interfere or conflict with Agency operations or the work performance of 
any Agency employees; 

3. Allows the employee to more efficiently perform Agency work; 

4. Is not abusive, illegal, inappropriate, or prohibited by this policy (e.g., no social 
media use, no electronic dating, no gaming); and 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 65 of 101 

5. Clearly indicates it is for personal use and does not indicate or imply City 
sponsorship or endorsement. 

Questions about access to electronic communications or issues relating to security should 
be addressed to the immediate supervisor. 

6.3 OFF-DUTY USE OF AGENCY’S FACILITIES AND PROPERTY 

Employees are prohibited from making use of Agency facilities while not on duty.  
Employees are expressly prohibited from using Agency facilities, Agency property, 
Agency vehicles, or Agency equipment for personal use.   

6.4 HEALTH AND SAFETY 

Every employee is responsible for the safety of themselves as well as others in the 
workplace.  To achieve the Agency’s goal of maintaining a safe workplace, all employees 
must be safety conscious at all times.  In compliance with California law, and to promote 
the concept of a safe workplace, the Agency maintains an Injury and Illness Prevention 
Program.  The Injury and Illness Prevention Program is available for review by employees 
and/or employee representatives in the General Manager's office. 

In compliance with Proposition 65, the Agency will inform employees of any known 
exposure to any hazardous material. 

6.5 HOUSEKEEPING 

All employees are expected to keep their work areas and vehicles clean and organized.  
Common areas such as lunchrooms, locker rooms and rest-rooms should be kept clean 
by those using them.  

6.6 SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE 

In order to ensure efficient operation of the Agency's business and to prevent annoyance 
to employees, it is necessary to control solicitations and distribution of literature on 
Agency property.  All employees are expected to follow the following rules regarding 
solicitation or distribution of literature.  Any employee who is in doubt concerning the 
application of these rules should consult with his or her supervisor immediately. 

 No employee shall solicit or promote support for any cause or organization during 
their working time or during the working time of the employee or employees at 
whom such activity is directed.  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 66 of 101 

 No employee shall distribute or circulate any written or printed material in work 
areas at any time, or during their working time or during the working time of the 
employee or employees at whom such activity is directed. 

 Under no circumstances will non-employees be permitted to solicit or to distribute 
written material for any purpose on Agency property. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 67 of 101 

ARTICLE 7.0 EMPLOYEE LEAVES 

7.1 HOLIDAYS 

The Agency observes the following paid holidays for regular full-time employees: 

 January 1 (New Year’s Day) 

 Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King Day) 

 Third Monday in February (Presidents Day) 

 Last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 

 July 4 (Independence Day) 

 First Monday in September (Labor Day) 

 November 11 (Veterans Day) 

 Thanksgiving Day 

 The Day Following Thanksgiving Day 

 December 24 (Christmas Eve Day) 

 December 25 (Christmas Day) 

When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the holiday will be observed on the previous Friday.  
When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the holiday will be observed on the following Monday. 

7.2 VACATIONS 

Paid vacation leave is a short-term leave of absence with pay for the recreation and well-
being of the employee.  The Agency provides paid vacation leave to its employees to 
facilitate time for employee rest and relaxation and encourages employees to use their 
paid vacation leave for recreational, restful, and restorative activities, which the Agency 
believes benefits both the employee and the Agency. 

Temporary and part-time employees do not accrue paid vacation leave.  Regular full-time 
employees accrue paid vacation leave while in paid status until they reach the maximum 
allowed unused balance.  Regular full-time employees accrue vacation time according to 
the number of consecutive years the employee has worked for the Agency in accordance 
with the following: 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 68 of 101 

LENGTH OF SERVICE FROM BENEFIT DATE 
ANNUAL VACATION 

ALLOWANCE 

ACCRUAL 

RATE 

PER 

STRAIGHT 

TIME HOURS 

WORKED 

MAXIMUM 

ALLOWED 

UNUSED 

BALANCE 

    

Date of hire through 4th year: 80 hours per year .0385 160 hours 

5th year (1461st day) through 10th year (3650st 
day): 

120 hours per year .0575 240 hours 

11th year (3651st day) and thereafter: 160 hours per year .0770 320 hours 

Regular full-time employees become eligible to use paid vacation leave on the first day 
following the pay period in which it is earned, provided an employee has first completed 
ninety (90) days of continuous service.   

Paid vacation leave may not be used until it is earned.  When an employee reaches the 
applicable maximum allowed unused balance, the employee’s paid vacation leave will be 
paid put as set forth below.   

In general, paid vacation leave should be taken annually with the approval of the General 
Manager at such time as will not impair the Agency’s operational needs, such as work 
schedule and efficiency of the Agency, with consideration given to the employee’s 
preference.  Paid vacation leave shall be scheduled in advance to provide adequate 
coverage of job responsibilities and staffing requirements.  An employee shall provide a 
minimum of three (3) week’s written advance notice, unless waived by the General 
Manager, when requesting to use paid vacation leave.  All requests to use paid vacation 
leave must be approved in advance by the General Manager, who will attempt to approve 
or deny paid vacation leave requests about two (2) weeks in advance of the request to 
use such leave.  The Agency may, at its discretion, require an employee to use accrued 
paid vacation leave. 

Employees do not accrue paid vacation leave during unpaid leaves of absence unless 
required by law.  If one or more paid holidays set forth in Section 7.1 occurs during a 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 69 of 101 

period of time that an employee is on an approved paid vacation leave, the employee will 
receive the paid holiday, and no deduction from employee’s paid vacation leave accruals 
will be taken for the day of the paid holiday. 

On October 1 of each year, the Agency will automatically “cash out” accrued vacation 
leave in excess of one-half of the maximum allowed unused balance for each employee 
who has accrued vacation leave in excess of their respective maximum allowed unused 
balance. Otherwise, employees are not allowed to “cash out” vacation leave.  Any 
employee separating from the Agency will be paid for any accrued unused paid vacation 
leave at their rate of pay at the time of separation. 

7.3 SICK LEAVE 

A. PURPOSES FOR SICK LEAVE 

Sick leave is paid leave from work that an employee may use for the following purposes: 

1. Diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or 
preventative care for the employee themselves or any of the following 
family members of the employee: a child of any age or dependency 
status; a parent; a parent-in-law; a spouse; a registered domestic 
partner; a grandparent; a grandchildren; or a sibling; or 

2. For an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, 
stalking, or other crime in order for the employee to engage in any of the 
following activities: (1) obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary 
restraining order or other court assistance to help ensure the health 
safety or welfare of the employee or their child; or (2) obtain medical 
attention or psychological counseling, services from a shelter, program 
or crisis center, or (3) participate in safety planning or other actions to 
increase safety. 

B. ACCRUAL & CARRYOVER FOR DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF 
EMPLOYEES 

1. Full time employees who are not temporary accrue eight (8) hours of 
sick leave for each calendar month of paid status; part-time employees 
who are not temporary accrue sick leave in an amount prorated to the 
lower number of hours they work each calendar month in paid status. 
Accrued sick leave carries over from year to year.  No accrual limit 
applies. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 70 of 101 

2. A temporary employee who works 30 or more days within a year from 
the commencement of employment with the Agency accrues one (1) 
hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours worked.  Accrued and unused 
sick leave carries over to the following year of employment but a 
temporary employee stops earning sick leave once they have accrued 
48 hours or six (6) work days/shifts of sick leave, whichever is greater. 

C. SICK LEAVE USE 

An employee may use accrued sick leave, in a minimum increment of two (2) hours, 
beginning on the 90th day after the first day of employment with the Agency, subject to 
the limits and request provisions in this policy. 

D. PROTECTED SICK LEAVE 

1. For full time employees who are not temporary employees, one-half of 
the employee’s accrued and available annual sick leave is protected and 
may be used for any of the purposes stated in this policy; and 

2. For temporary employees, up to 24 hours, or three (3) days, whichever 
is greater, of accrued and available sick leave each year is protected 
and may be used for any of the purposes stated in this policy.  The year 
is measured beginning on July 1, 2015, or the employee’s anniversary 
of hire date, whichever is later. 

E. SICK LEAVE REQUEST 

To request to use sick leave if the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee must give 
the immediate supervisor reasonable advance written or oral notice, preferably no later 
than 30 minutes before they are scheduled to report for work.  If the need for sick leave 
is not foreseeable, the employee shall provide written or oral notice of the need for the 
leave as soon as practicable.  If the employee is required to be absent on sick leave for 
more than one (1) day, the employee must keep the immediate supervisor informed each 
day as to the date the employee expects to return to work and the purpose of the leave.  
Failure to request sick leave as required by this policy without good reason, may result in 
the employee being treated as absent without leave. 

Paid sick leave used as well as paid sick leave remaining will be reflected on the 
employee’s wage statement.  Employees wishing to utilize paid sick leave must indicate 
it on their timecard. 

F. CERTIFICATION 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 71 of 101 

The Agency may require that employees who are not temporary employees, provide a 
physician’s certification to support any absence that involves the illness of the employee 
or family member if the Agency suspects that there is an abuse of sick leave by the 
employee.  All employees, including temporary employees, who use paid leave to 
address issues related to domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or other crimes and 
who cannot provide advance notice of their need for leave must provide certification of 
the need for leave within a reasonable time thereafter. 

G. SICK LEAVE ON SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT 

Unused sick leave is not cashed out upon termination, resignation, retirement, or other 
separation from employment.  Unused sick leave may be converted to retirement service 
credits only as may be permitted under applicable retirement system laws and regulations 
as permitted by CalPERS. 

H. SICK LEAVE REINSTATEMENT 

If an employee separates and is rehired within one (1) year from separation, accrued and 
unused sick leave, to a maximum of six (6) days or 48 hours, whichever is greater, will be 
reinstated.  An employee who worked at least 90 days in the initial employment with the 
Agency may immediately use reinstated sick leave.  An employee who had not worked 
90 days in the initial employment with the Agency must work the remaining amount of the 
90 day-qualifying period to be able to use accrued sick leave. 

Upon termination or resignation, an employee shall be entitled to payment for any accrued 
but unused sick leave in excess of 200 hours based on each two (2) hours of accrued 
sick leave being converted to one (1) hour of vacation leave.  

7.4 OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

The Board shall have the authority to grant other leaves of absence to the General 
Manager.  The General Manager shall have the authority to grant leaves to all other 
Agency employees in accordance with the provisions under which eligible leaves may be 
granted.  All leaves shall be requested on a form provided by the Agency prior to the start 
of the requested leave.  Failure to return promptly from authorized leave without prior 
authorization from the General Manager may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination. 

7.5 CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT LEAVE POLICY 

The Agency provides leave in accordance with the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”).  
Unless otherwise stated in this Policy, “Leave” means leave pursuant to the CFRA. 











BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 76 of 101 

categories of “qualifying exigencies”:  short-notice deployment, military 
events and related activities, childcare and school activities, financial 
and legal arrangements, counseling, rest and recuperation, post-
deployment activities, additional activities, and parental care 
arrangements. 

D. AMOUNT OF LEAVE 

Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 12 weeks of leave during any 12-month period.   

E. EFFECT OF HOLIDAYS 

If a holiday observed by the Agency occurs within a week taken as CFRA leave, the 
holiday has no effect on the amount of CFRA leave taken and the entire week is still 
counted as a week of CFRA leave.  However, if the employee is using CFRA leave in 
increments of less than one week, the holiday will not count against the employee’s leave 
entitlement unless the employee was otherwise scheduled and expected to work during 
the holiday. 

F. MINIMUM DURATION OF LEAVE 

If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child of the 
employee, leave must be concluded within one year of the birth or placement of the child.  
In addition, the basic minimum duration of such leave is two weeks.  However, an 
employee is entitled to leave for one of these purposes (e.g., bonding with a newborn) for 
less than two weeks duration on any two occasions. 

If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse, domestic partner, grandparent, 
grandchild, sibling or the employee himself or herself with a serious health condition, there 
is no minimum amount of leave that must be taken.  However, compliance with the notice 
and medical certification provisions of this Policy is required. 

G. INTERMITTENT LEAVE OR LEAVE ON A REDUCED SCHEDULE 

Under certain circumstances, leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave 
schedule. 

“Intermittent leave” is leave taken in separate blocks of time due to a single qualifying 
reason, rather than for one continuous period of time, and may include leave of periods 
from an hour or more to several weeks. “Reduced leave schedule” means a leave 
schedule that reduces the employee’s usual number of hours per workweek or workday, 
usually from full- to part-time. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 77 of 101 

Where leave is taken because of the birth or the placement of a child for adoption or foster 
care, a reduced leave schedule may only be taken if the Agency agrees.  Employees may 
take intermittent leave because of the birth or the placement of a child for adoption or 
foster care in minimum increments of two weeks duration, with the exception that an 
employee is entitled to leave for this purpose in periods that are less than two weeks 
duration on any two occasions.  

Where leave is taken to care for a sick family member, or for the employee’s own serious 
health condition, intermittent leave or leave on a reduced leave schedule may be taken 
when “medically necessary” (e.g., weekly physical therapy treatments).  The employee 
must provide medical certification that there is a medical need for leave (as distinguished 
from voluntary treatments and procedures) and such medical need can be 
accommodated best through an intermittent leave or reduced leave schedule.  Employees 
needing such leave must make a reasonable effort to schedule their leave so as not to 
disrupt the Agency’s operations.   

If an employee needs intermittent leave or leave on a reduced leave schedule that is 
foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, the Agency may require the employee 
to transfer temporarily to an alternate position of equivalent pay and benefits during the 
period that the intermittent leave or reduced schedule leave is required.  The Agency will 
not transfer employees who take unforeseeable intermittent leave. 

If an employee takes leave intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule, only the amount 
of leave actually taken may be counted towards the 12 weeks of leave to which an 
employee is entitled.  For example, if an employee takes one day of leave per week, he 
or she has used 1/5 of a week of CFRA leave.  Similarly, if an employee who regularly 
works eight-hour days works four-hour days on a reduced leave schedule, the employee 
would use one-half of a week of CFRA leave. 

H. SPOUSES BOTH EMPLOYED BY THE AGENCY 

In any case in which both parents of a child, adoptee, or foster child are employed by the 
Agency and are entitled to bonding leave, each parent is entitled to take 12 workweeks 
of CFRA bonding leave during any 12-month period. 

I. SUBSTITUTION OF PAID ACCRUED LEAVES AND LEAVE’S EFFECT ON 
PAY 

Although leave under this Policy is unpaid, an employee may elect and the Agency will 
require an employee to use paid accrued leaves as described below: 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 78 of 101 

1. An employee may elect and the Agency will require an employee to use 
accrued paid vacation or personal leave, if any, for all or part of any 
unpaid leave under this Policy.   

2. An employee may elect and the Agency will require an employee use 
sick leave concurrently with leave under this Policy only if the leave is 
for the employee’s own serious health condition.  If the leave is needed 
to care for a parent, spouse, child, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, or 
domestic partner with a serious health condition, the employee may 
elect to use sick leave concurrently with leave under this Policy, but is 
not required to do so. 

3. Where an employee both qualifies for CFRA leave and is taking leave 
pursuant to the Agency’s temporary disability policy, the state disability 
benefit plan or worker’s compensation benefits, neither the employee 
nor the Agency may require substitution of paid leave.  However, the 
employee and the Agency may mutually agree to have paid leave 
supplement the disability plan or worker’s compensation benefits. 

Except to the extent that accrued paid leave are substituted for family care and medical 
leave, as set forth above, leave under this Policy is unpaid. 

Upon becoming disabled, an employee should apply for State Disability Insurance (SDI).  
In addition, under the Paid Family Leave (PFL) law, employees who take time off from 
work to care for a seriously ill child, spouse, domestic partner, parent, grandparent, 
grandchild, or sibling, or to bond with a new child (entering their life either by birth, 
adoption, or foster care placement), may receive PFL benefits through SDI.  For more 
information, and to obtain claim forms, employees may speak with the General Manager, 
visit any SDI office, or go to EDD’s website at: www.edd.ca.gov.  Any paid time used will 
be integrated so that the employee does not receive more than 100% of regular pay. 

Vacation and sick leave are not earned during unpaid leaves.  Employees who are eligible 
to accrue vacation only accrue vacation when working or when receiving another form of 
paid leave earned through their work (for example, when using paid vacation or sick 
leave), and then only for the portion of the paid leave earned through work. 

J. AGENCY’S RIGHT TO REQUIRE AN EMPLOYEE TO EXHAUST CFRA 
LEAVE CONCURRENTLY WITH OTHER LEAVES 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 79 of 101 

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason that also qualifies under the 
CFRA, the Agency may designate that leave as running concurrently with the employee’s 
12-week CFRA leave entitlement. 

K. AGENCY’S AND EMPLOYEE’S RIGHTS IF AN EMPLOYEE REQUESTS 
ACCRUED LEAVE WITHOUT MENTIONING CFRA 

If an employee requests to utilize accrued vacation leave, personal leave, or other 
accrued paid time off without reference to a CFRA qualifying purpose, the Agency may 
not ask the employee if the leave is for a CFRA qualifying purpose.  However, if the 
Agency denies the employee’s leave request and the employee provides information that 
the requested time off is for a CFRA qualifying purpose, the Agency may require the 
employee to exhaust accrued leave as described above.  

L. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS WHILE ON LEAVE 

1. Group Health Insurance During Unpaid Leave 

Leave under this Policy is unpaid.  While on unpaid leave, employees will continue to be 
covered by the Agency’s group health insurance (which includes health, dental and 
vision) for up to 12 weeks each leave year to the same extent that coverage is provided 
while the employee is on the job.  If the employee is disabled by pregnancy, coverage will 
continue up to four months each leave year (see below for more information).  If an 
employee disabled by pregnancy also uses leave under the CFRA for baby-bonding, the 
Agency will maintain her coverage while she is disabled by pregnancy (up to four months 
or 17 1/3 weeks) and during her CFRA leave (up to 12 weeks). 

2. Benefit Plans Not Provided through the Agency’s Group Health 
Plan During Unpaid Leave Do Not Continue 

The Agency does not pay for benefit plans that are not part of the group health plan for 
any employee on unpaid leave.  As a result, employees will not continue to be covered 
under the Agency’s benefit plans that are not provided through the Agency’s group health 
plans while the employee is on unpaid leave.  

3. Payment of Premiums 

Employees may make the appropriate contributions for continued coverage under the 
health benefits plans by payroll deductions (if the employee is using his or her paid leave) 
or direct payments (if the employee is not using his or her paid leave).  The Agency will 
inform the employee whether the direct payments for premiums should be paid to the 
carrier or to the Agency, and the deadlines for paying premiums in order to prevent 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 80 of 101 

coverage from being dropped.  Employee contribution rates are subject to any changes 
in rates that occur while employee is on leave. 

4. Recovery of Premium if the Employee Fails to Return from Leave 

If an employee fails to return to work after his or her leave entitlement has been exhausted 
or expires, the Agency shall have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums 
for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the 
continuation, recurrence or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his or 
her family member that would entitle the employee to leave or because of circumstances 
beyond the employee’s control.  

M. NOTICE REQUIREMENTS  

Although the Agency recognizes that emergencies arise which may require employees to 
request immediate leave, employees are required to give as much verbal or written notice 
as possible of their need for leave.  If leave is foreseeable, at least thirty (30) days’ notice 
is required.  In addition, if an employee knows that he or she will need leave in the future, 
but does not know the exact day(s) (e.g., for the birth of a child or to take care of a 
newborn), the employee shall inform his or her supervisor as soon as possible that such 
leave will be needed.  For foreseeable leave due to a qualifying exigency, an employee 
must provide verbal or written notice of the need for leave as soon as practicable, 
regardless of how far in advance such leave is foreseeable.  

N. MEDICAL CERTIFICATIONS 

Employees who request leave must provide a medical certification and/or recertification 
to support the need for the leave as described below: 

1. Employee’s Own Serious Health Condition 

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition must provide written 
certification from the health care provider that contains all of the following: the date, if 
known, on which the serious health condition commenced; the probable duration of the 
condition; and a statement that, due to the serious health condition, the employee is 
unable to work at all or is unable to perform any one or more of the essential functions of 
his or her position.  Upon expiration of the time period the health care provider originally 
estimated that the employee needed for his or her own serious health condition, the 
employee must obtain recertification if additional leave is requested.  

2. Family Member Serious Health Condition 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 81 of 101 

Employees who request leave to care for a child, parent, domestic partner, spouse, 
grandparent, grandchild, or sibling who has a serious health condition must provide 
written certification from the health care provider of the family member requiring care that 
contains all of the following: the date, if known, on which the serious health condition 
commenced; the probable duration of the condition; an estimate of the amount of time 
which the health care provider believes the employee needs to care for the child, parent, 
domestic partner, spouse, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling and a statement that the 
serious health condition warrants the participation of the employee to provide care during 
a period of treatment or supervision of the child, parent, spouse, domestic partner, 
grandparent, grandchild, or sibling.  The term “warrants the participation of the employee” 
includes, but is not limited to, providing psychological comfort, and arranging third party 
care for the covered family member, as well as directly providing, or participating in, the 
medical care.  Upon expiration of the time period the health care provider originally 
estimated that the employee needed to care for a covered family member, the employer 
must obtain recertification if additional leave is requested.  

3. Qualifying Exigency 

The first time an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency, an employee 
may require the employee to provide a copy of the military member’s active duty orders 
or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the military member is 
on covered active duty or call to active duty status in a foreign country, and the dates of 
the military member’s active duty service.  A copy of the new active duty orders or similar 
documentation shall be provided to the Agency if the need for leave because of a 
qualifying exigency arises out of a different active duty or call to active duty status of the 
same or a different military member.  The Agency will verify the certification as permitted 
by the CFRA.  

4. Time to Provide Certification  

When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least thirty (30) days’ notice has been 
provided, if a medical certification is requested, the employee must provide it before the 
leave begins.  When this is not possible, the employee must provide the requested 
certification to the Agency within the time frame requested by the Agency (which must 
allow at least fifteen (15) calendar days after the Agency’s request), unless it is not 
practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the employee’s diligent, 
good faith efforts. 

5. Incomplete/Invalid Medical Certification  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 82 of 101 

If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification the employee will be given a 
reasonable opportunity to cure any such deficiency.  However, if an employee fails to 
provide a medical certification within the time frame established by this Policy, the Agency 
may delay the taking of CFRA leave until the required certification is provided or deny 
CFRA protections following the expiration of the time period to provide an adequate 
certification. 

If the Agency has a good faith, objective reason to doubt the validity of a certification for 
the employee’s serious health condition, the Agency may require a medical opinion of a 
second health care provider chosen and paid for by the Agency.  If the second opinion is 
different from the first, the Agency may require the opinion of a third provider jointly 
approved by the Agency and the employee, but paid for by the Agency.  The opinion of 
the third provider will be binding. An employee may request a copy of the health care 
provider’s opinions when there is a second or third medical opinion sought. 

O. REINSTATEMENT UPON RETURN FROM LEAVE 

Upon expiration of leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position of 
employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with equivalent 
employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment.  Employees 
have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and other conditions of employment than 
if the employee had been continuously employed during the CFRA period. 

If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the leave, 
the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon.  If the reinstatement date differs 
from the original agreement of the employee and the Agency, the employee will be 
reinstated within two business days, where feasible, after the employee notifies the 
employer of his or her readiness to return, with the exception of employees beginning or 
returning from leave at the end of the academic year, as set forth below.   

P. EMPLOYEE’S OBLIGATION TO PERIODICALLY REPORT ON HIS OR HER 
CONDITION 

Employees may be required to periodically report on their status and intent to return to 
work.  This will avoid any delays to reinstatement when the employee is ready to return. 

Q. FITNESS-FOR-DUTY CERTIFICATION 

As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave was due to the employee’s 
own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to perform his or her job, 
the employee must obtain and present a fitness-for-duty certification from the health care 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 83 of 101 

provider that the employee is able to resume work.  Failure to provide such certification 
will result in denial of reinstatement. 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 84 of 101 

7.6 LEAVE BECAUSE OF PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH, OR RELATED MEDICAL 
CONDITION  

A. AMOUNT OF LEAVE 

An employee who is disabled because of pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical 
condition is entitled to an unpaid leave for up to the number of hours she would normally 
work within four calendar months (one-third of a year or 17 1/3 weeks).  For a full-time 
employee who works 40 hours per week, “four months” means 693 hours of leave 
entitlement, based on 40 hour per week times 17 1/3 weeks.  An employee who works 
less than 40 hours per week will receive a pro rata or proportional amount of leave. 

B. NOTICE & CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 

1. Notice: Requests for pregnancy disability leave must be submitted in 
writing with reasonable advance notice of the medical need for the leave. 
All leaves must be confirmed in writing, have an agreed-upon specific 
date of return, and be submitted to the General Manager or designee. 

2. Certification: The request for pregnancy disability leave must be 
supported by a written certification from the attending physician stating 
that: (1) the employee is disabled from working by pregnancy, childbirth 
or a related medical condition; (2) the date on which the employee 
became disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition; 
and (3) the estimated duration or end date of the leave. 

C. COMPENSATION DURING LEAVE 

Pregnancy disability leaves are without pay.  However, the employee must first use sick 
leave, if any.  Once sick leave is depleted, the employee may elect to use vacation leave 
or any other accrued paid time off during the leave. 

D. BENEFITS DURING LEAVE 

3. Group Health Insurance: An employee on pregnancy disability 
leave may continue to receive any group health insurance 
coverage that was provided before her leave, beginning on the 
date the pregnancy disability leave begins and continuing for up 
to four months in a 12-month period, at the same level and under 
the same conditions that coverage would have been provided if 
the employee had continued in employment continuously for the 
duration of the leave.  The Agency may recover premiums it paid 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 85 of 101 

to maintain health coverage if an employee does not return to 
work following pregnancy disability leave, unless the reason for 
the failure to return is a circumstance beyond her control or the 
use of the separate right to 12 weeks of bonding leave under the 
CFRA. 

4. Sick and Vacation Leaves: Sick and vacation leaves do not 
accrue while an employee is on unpaid pregnancy disability 
leave. 

5. Employee Status During Leave: The employee retains employee 
status during the leave.  The leave is not a break in service for 
purposes of longevity or seniority under any collective bargaining 
agreement or employee benefit plan.  Benefits will be resumed 
upon the employee’s reinstatement in the same manner and at 
the same levels as provided when the leave began, without any 
new qualification period, physical exam, or other qualifying 
provisions. 

E. REINSTATEMENT 

1. Upon the expiration of pregnancy leave, the employee will be reinstated 
to her original or a comparable position, so long as it was not eliminated 
for a legitimate business reason during the leave. 

2. If the employee’s original position is no longer available, the employee 
will be assigned to a comparable, open position. 

3. If upon return from leave an employee is unable to perform the essential 
functions of her job because of a physical or mental disability, the 
Agency will initiate an interactive process with the employee in order to 
identify a potential reasonable accommodation in accordance with this 
Handbook. 

 

7.7 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

In the event of the death of an employee’s immediate family member, the employee may 
request from the General Manager a bereavement leave  of up to a maximum of five (5) 
days per incident with pay.  The immediate family is defined as a current spouse or 
registered domestic partner, child, parent, legal guardian, brother, sister, grandparent, 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 86 of 101 

grandchild, or mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, or 
daughter-in-law. 

7.8 MILITARY LEAVE 

Military leave will be granted in accordance with applicable federal and state law.  An 
employee requesting leave for this purpose shall promptly provide the General Manager 
with a copy of the military orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or 
mission.  Within the limits of such orders, the General Manager may determine when the 
leave is to be taken and may modify the employee’s work schedule to accommodate the 
request for leave. 

7.9 JURY DUTY LEAVE 

Any non-exempt employee who is required to serve on jury duty, and has completed their 
training period, will receive full pay while serving up to ten (10) days of jury duty per 
calendar year.  A leave of absence without pay will be granted if jury duty exceeds the 
ten (10) day limit (exempt employees’ salary will not be changed for jury duty service).  
The employee should notify the supervisor of the need for time off for jury duty as soon 
as a notice or summons from the court is received.  The employee may be requested to 
provide written verification from the court clerk of having served.  If work time remains 
after any day of jury duty, then the employee will be expected to return to work.  Any 
mileage allowance paid by the court for jury services is to be retained by the employee. 

7.10  OTHER COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING APPEARANCES 

A. REGARDING AGENCY DUTIES 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is subpoenaed to appear in court in 
a matter regarding an event or transaction in the course of their Agency job duties, must 
give their supervisor as much advance notice as is possible.  The Agency will determine 
whether the matter involves an event or transaction in the course of the employee’s 
Agency job duties.  If so, this leave to appear in court will be without loss of compensation, 
and the time spent will be considered work time.  The Agency will offset the amount from 
pay the employee receives for witness fees. 

B. REGARDING EMPLOYEE-INITIATED PROCEEDINGS 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is subpoenaed to appear, or 
appears in court because of civil or administrative proceedings that they initiated, is not 
entitled to receive compensation for time spent related to those proceedings.  An 
employee may request to receive time off without pay, or may use any accrued leave 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 87 of 101 

other than sick leave for time spent related to those proceedings.  The time spent in these 
proceedings is not considered work time. 

C. REGARDING CRIME VICTIM/ VICTIM FAMILY MEMBER COURT 
ATTENDANCE LEAVE 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is a victim of a crime may take leave 
from work to attend judicial proceedings related to that crime, if the employee provides 
the Agency notice of the scheduled proceeding in advance.  If advance notice is not 
feasible, the employee must provide the Agency, within a reasonable time after the leave 
is taken, documentation from the District Attorney, victim’s rights office, or court/governing 
agency that shows that the judicial proceeding occurred when the leave was used.  An 
employee who is an immediate family member of such a crime victim, including: a 
registered domestic partner; the child of the registered domestic partner; spouse; child; 
stepchild; brother; stepbrother; sister; stepsister; mother; stepmother; father; or stepfather 
of the crime victim is also entitled to leave from work to attend judicial proceedings relating 
to that crime.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee elects to use accrued vacation, 
sick, or other paid leave, or compensatory time off. 

D. REGARDING CRIME VICTIM/ FAMILY MEMBER VICTIMS’ RIGHTS 
PROCEEDINGS LEAVE 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is a victim of a crime listed in Labor 
Code section 230.5(a)(2)(A), may take leave from work to appear in court to be heard at 
any proceeding in which the right of the victim is at issue, if the employee provides the 
Agency reasonable advance notice.  If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must 
provide the Agency, within a reasonable time after the leave is taken, certification from a 
police report, a district attorney or court, or from a health care provider or victim advocate, 
that the employee was a victim of any of the crimes listed in Labor Code section 
230.5(a)(2)(A).  An employee who is a spouse, parent, child, sibling, or guardian of such 
a crime victim is also a victim who is entitled to this leave if the above notice or certification 
requirements are met.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee elects to use accrued 
vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off. 

7.11 LEAVE FOR VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, SEXUAL ASSAULT, 
STALKING, OR OTHER CRIMES 

A. TO OBTAIN RESTRAINING ORDERS OR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is a victim of domestic violence, 
sexual assault, stalking, or other crime may take leave from work to obtain or attempt to 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 88 of 101 

obtain any relief, including, but not limited to: a temporary restraining order, restraining 
order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety, or welfare of the 
employee or their child, if the employee provides advance notice of the need for leave. If 
advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide any of the following 
certifications within a reasonable time after the leave: a police report indicating that the 
employee was a victim; a court order protecting the employee from the perpetrator; 
evidence from the district attorney or court that the employee has appeared in court; or 
documentation from a health care provider or counselor that the employee was 
undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless 
the employee elects to use Healthy Workplace Healthy Family Act of 2014 sick leave, 
accrued vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off. 

B. TO OBTAIN MEDICAL ATTENTION, COUNSELING, OR SAFETY 
PLANNING 

Any employee, including a temporary employee, who is a victim of domestic violence, 
sexual assault, stalking, or other crime, may take leave from work to attend to any of the 
following: obtaining medical attention or psychological counseling; obtaining services 
from a shelter, program or crisis center; or participating in safety planning or other actions 
to increase safety, if the employee provides advance notice of the employee’s intention 
to take time off for these purposes. If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must 
provide any of the following to the Agency within a reasonable time after the leave: a 
police report indicating that the employee was a victim; a court order protecting the 
employee from the perpetrator; evidence from the district attorney or court that the 
employee has appeared in court; or documentation from a health care provider or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or 
abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee elects to use Healthy Workplace Healthy 
Family Act of 2014 sick leave, accrued vacation or personal leave, or compensatory time 
off. 

7.12 TIME OFF FOR VOTING 

In the event an employee does not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote 
in a statewide election, the employee may request up to two (2) hours of paid leave either 
at the beginning or the end of the employee’s regular working shift. Where possible, the 
employee shall request time off to vote from their supervisor at least two (2) working days’ 
prior to Election Day. 

7.13 CHILD SUSPENSION LEAVE 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 89 of 101 

Any employee who is the parent or guardian of a child in grades 1 through 12 may take 
time off to go to the child’s school in response to a request from the child’s school, if the 
employee gives advance notice to their supervisor.  A school has the authority to request 
that the parent attend the child’s school if the child has: committed any obscene act; 
habitually used profanity or vulgarity; disrupted school activities; or otherwise willfully 
defied the valid authority of school personnel. 

7.14  SCHOOL-RELATED LEAVE: SCHOOL OR LICENSED DAY CARE 
ACTIVITY LEAVE 

Any employee who is a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, grandparent, or 
person who stands in loco parentis to one or more children who are in kindergarten or 
grades 1 through 12, or who are in a licensed child care facility, shall be allowed up to 40 
hours each school year, not to exceed eight (8) hours in any calendar month of the school 
year, to: (1) participate in activities of their child’s school or licensed child care facility; (2) 
find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider; or (3) to 
pick up a child due to a child care provider or school emergency.  The employee must 
provide reasonable advance notice to their supervisor of the planned absence.  The leave 
is unpaid unless the employee uses vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off.  
The employee must provide documentation from the school or licensed child care facility 
as verification that the employee participated in school or child care facility activities on a 
specific date and at a particular time.  If both parents, guardians or grandparents having 
custody work for the Agency at the same Agency work site, only the first parent requesting 
leave will be entitled to leave under this provision. 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 90 of 101 

ARTICLE 8.0 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

8.1 HEALTH INSURANCE 

The Agency provides a comprehensive medical, vision, dental, and life insurance plan for 
regular full time and eligible part time employees.  Health insurance for employee 
dependents is provided on a cost-sharing basis.  An employee becomes eligible for such 
insurance as set forth in the Agency’s insurance benefit plan documents and as required 
by law.  In the event of an increase in health insurance premium rates, all employees may 
be required to contribute towards the cost of increased premiums to retain coverage. 

8.2 DISABILITY INSURANCE 

Each employee contributes to the state of California for disability insurance pursuant to 
the California Unemployment Insurance Code.  Contributions are made through a payroll 
deduction.  Disability insurance is payable when the employee cannot work because of 
illness or injury not caused by employment, pregnancy, or childbirth.  Specific rules and 
regulations governing disability insurance, including, but not limited to eligibility 
requirements and the process for filing a claim, are available from the Employment 
Development Department, including on its website: https://edd.ca.gov/. 

8.3 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 

The Agency contributes each year to the California Unemployment Insurance Fund on 
behalf of its employees. 

8.4 RETIREMENT PLAN 

The Agency contracts with the California Public Employees Retirement System 
(“CalPERS”) to provide a plan for eligible employees in order to assist in planning for their 
retirement.  For information regarding eligibility, contributions, benefits, and tax status, 
contact the General Manager.  All eligible participants will receive a summary plan 
description. 

8.5 SPECIAL COMPENSATION - UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 

In compliance with the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“CalPERS”) 
regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 C.C.R. § 571), for “classic 
members” as defined by the Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013 (“PEPRA”), 
the compensation paid or the monetary value for the purchase, rental, and/or 
maintenance of required uniforms shall be reported to CalPERS as Special 
Compensation.  The Agency agrees that the amount paid for uniform rental is “pay” is 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 91 of 101 

described in Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations Section 571 (a)(5) as a “statutory 
item” of compensation.  However, it is ultimately CalPERS who determines whether any 
form of pay is reportable special compensation. 

The Agency will report to CalPERS the average monetary value (i.e., average cost) of 
uniform rental for only “classic members” on a per payroll basis.  The average monetary 
value applied in the current calendar year payroll will be based on the prior calendar year 
average monetary value paid for the uniform rental for “classic members” only. 

The Uniform Allowance is a payroll deduction funded by the employee.  The monetary 
value of the uniform is a benefit provided by the Agency. 

8.6 EMPLOYEE OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES 

It may be necessary for employees to attend training programs, seminars, conferences, 
lectures, meetings, or other outside activities for the benefit of the Agency or the individual 
employee’s employment with the Agency.  Attendance at such activities may be required 
by the Agency or requested by individual employees.  However, attendance will not be 
considered an officially authorized activity, subject to the following policies on 
reimbursement and compensation, unless prior written approval has been issued by the 
General Manager.  To obtain approval, employees wishing to attend an activity must 
submit a written request detailing all relevant information about the activity, including date, 
hours, location, cost, expenses, nature and purpose of activity, and justification for 
attendance. 

Where attendance is required or authorized by the Agency, customary and reasonable 
expenses will be reimbursed upon submission of proper receipts.  Customary and 
reasonable expenses generally may include registration fees, materials, meals, 
transportation, and parking.  Reimbursement policies regarding these expenses should 
be discussed with the General Manager in advance. 

Employees will be reimbursed following successful completion of examinations for 
certificates that are required by their job descriptions.  Similarly, renewals for required 
certificates will be reimbursed by the Agency.  For activities that result in a letter grade 
(e.g., A, B, C, D, or F) or a pass/fail designation, the employee must be awarded after 
successful completion of the activity and the receipt of a grade C or better or a pass 
designation. 

Employee attendance at authorized outside activities, during normal working hours, will 
be considered hours worked for non-exempt employees and will be compensated in 
accordance with normal payroll practices.  Further, when an employee’s participation in 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 92 of 101 

an activity is required by the Agency, attendance will be considered hours worked for non-
exempt employees and will be compensated in accordance with normal payroll practices. 

This policy does not apply to an employee's voluntary attendance, outside of normal 
working hours, at formal or informal educational sessions, even if such sessions may 
generally lead to improved job performance.  While the Agency generally encourages all 
employees to improve their job skills and promotional qualifications, such activities will 
not be subject to this policy regarding reimbursement or compensation unless prior written 
approval is obtained as discussed above. 

8.7  STUDENT LOAN ASSISTANCE BENEFIT 

The Agency offers assistance in repayment of college/university student loan debt to up 
to two (2) eligible employees during each fiscal year.  Eligibility for the benefit will be 
determined based on the date on which the employee has provided their request to the 
General Manager. 

Agency approved and eligible employees may receive up to $500 per month to repay 
their student loan debt to a maximum reimbursement of $10,000 for an Associate of Arts 
(or Sciences) degree, $30,000 for a four-year Bachelor’s degree, or $20,000 for a Master 
of Science degree from an accredited college or university. 

The repayment for student loan debt for tuition, books, applications, and tests is limited 
to current debt that the employee has directly related to tuition payments for having 
received a degree (referred to above), relevant to the employee’s job (as determined by 
the General Manager) at an accredited college or university.  The requesting employee 
must have at least three (3) years continuous service at the Agency at the time of the 
request. 

The requesting employee must submit paperwork satisfactory to the General Manager 
that confirms the debt amount (for example, if the employee only owes $20,000 for their 
Bachelor of Science degree, the reimbursement maximum will be limited to $20,000.)  If 
the employee ceases to be a regular full-time employee, the benefit will stop.  For 
example, should the employee become a part-time employee, temporary employee, or 
have their employment terminated, the benefit will no longer be available to employee. 

The maximum lifetime benefit available to an employee is $60,000. 

The employee can only participate in one (1) reimbursement benefit agreement at a time.  
For example, an employee who has student loans for both a Masters and a Bachelor’s 
degree would have to select the debt for which they wish to seek reimbursement. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 93 of 101 

8.8 RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMS 

The Agency or its insurer will not be liable for the payment of workers' compensation 
benefits for any injury that arises out of an employee's voluntary participation in any off-
duty recreational, social, or athletic activity that is not part of the employee's work-related 
duties. 

8.9  WORKERS' COMPENSATION 

The Agency, in accordance with state law, provides workers’ compensation insurance 
coverage for employees in case of work-related injury or illness.  The workers' 
compensation insurance benefits provided to such employees may include: 

• Medical care, 

• Cash benefits, generally tax free, to replace lost wages, 

• Vocational rehabilitation to help qualified injured employees return to suitable 
employment. 

To request workers' compensation insurance benefits, the employee will need to: 

• Immediately report any work-related injury to the supervisor. 

• Seek medical treatment and follow-up care if required. 

• Complete a written Employee's Claim Form (DWC Form 1) and return it to the 
General Manager. 

Employees must provide the Agency with a certification from their health care provider 
regarding the need for workers' compensation disability leave and the employee's ability 
to return to work from the leave based on the essential functions of the assigned position. 

The Agency provides for medical treatment for work-related injuries through an Agency 
designated medical provider. 

Employees who are injured in a work-related incident will be referred to the Agency’s 
designated medical treatment provider, unless prior to a work-related injury, the Agency 
has received from the employee a written notice that the employee wishes to be treated 
by their own physician.  Employees who do not designate their own physician will be 
treated by the Agency’s designated medical treatment provider for work-related injuries, 
for at least 30 days, if required.  Employees may seek treatment from their own physician 
after 30 days, should they so desire. 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 94 of 101 

Upon submission of a medical certification that the employee is able to return to work, 
they will be offered the same position held at the time of leaving, unless the job has been 
filled in order to avoid undermining the Agency's ability to operate safely and efficiently, 
or the employee is not capable of performing the job responsibilities upon return.  If the 
employee’s former position is not available, a substantially similar position will be offered 
unless there is no substantially similar position available, or filling the available position 
would substantially undermine the Agency's ability to operate safely and efficiently, or the 
employee is not capable of performing the job responsibilities. 

The law requires that this Agency notify the workers' compensation insurance company 
of any concerns of false or fraudulent claims.  Any person who makes or causes to be 
made any knowingly false or fraudulent material statement or material misrepresentation 
for the purpose of obtaining or denying workers' compensation benefits or payments is 
guilty of a felony. A violation of this law is punishable by imprisonment for one to five 
years, or by a fine not exceeding $50,000 or double the value of the fraud, whichever is 
greater, or both. Additional civil penalties may be in order. 

8.10 DEFINITION OF DOMESTIC PARTNER 

A Domestic Partner is the employee's or retiree's domestic partner under a legally 
registered and valid domestic partnership. 

For an employee or retiree to include their domestic partner as a dependent under the 
plan, the employee or retiree and their domestic partner must meet the following criteria: 

a. Both persons must share a common residence 

b. Neither person can be married to someone else nor be a member of another 
domestic partnership with someone else that has not been terminated, dissolved, 
or nullified 

c. The two individuals are not related by blood in a way that would prevent them 
from being married to each other in the state of California 

d. Both persons must be at least 18 years of age 

e. Both persons must be capable of consenting to the domestic partnership 

Both persons must provide the plan administrator with a California State Registration of 
Domestic Partnership.  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 95 of 101 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT AND REVIEW OF EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

I hereby acknowledge that I have received and reviewed a copy of the Bighorn Desert 
View Water Agency EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK (hereinafter "Handbook"), and understand 
it contains important information regarding the Agency’s general personnel policies and 
my privileges and obligations as an employee of the Agency.  I acknowledge that I am 
expected to read, understand, and adhere to the Handbook and I agree to familiarize 
myself with its contents.  I understand that if I have any questions about the Handbook or 
its contents, I am to discuss them with my supervisor or the General Manager. 

I recognize that this Handbook supersedes and replaces any previous handbooks, and 
to the extent that provisions of this Handbook conflict with previously issued policies or 
practices, whether or not such policies and practices were contained in an employee 
handbook, this Handbook shall prevail.  I understand that the Agency may revise, modify, 
delete, or add to any of the provisions in this Handbook, from time to time in its sole and 
absolute discretion with or without prior notice, subject to written approval by the Board 
of Directors.  I understand that the Agency will advise employees of material changes to 
the Handbook within a reasonable time. 

I further understand and agree that my employment with the Agency is at will, as set forth 
in the At Will Employment section of the Handbook, which means that my employment 
may be terminated with or without cause, and with or without notice, at any time by either 
the Agency or me.  I understand and agree that nothing in this Handbook limits the right 
to terminate my at-will employment, with or without cause, or with or without notice.  I 
further understand and agree that my at will employment status cannot be changed in 
any way, whatsoever, except in a writing which has been approved by the Board of 
Directors. 

________________________________________ 
Employee's Name (print or type) 

Date:  __________________   ____________________________________ 

Employee Signature 

Date:  __________________   ____________________________________ 

Witness 



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 96 of 101 

APPENDICES A - D 
ALL APPENDICES ARE ADOPTED BY SEPARATE BOARD RESOLUTION OR 

MOTION AND INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE ONLY 

 

APPENDIX A DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM 

APPENDIX B JOB DESCRIPTIONS/CLASSIFICATIONS  

APPENDIX C RANGE AND STEP SCHEDULE  

APPENDIX D ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 97 of 101 

APPENDIX A 

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM FOR  

SAFETY-SENSITIVE EMPLOYEES ONLY 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 98 of 101 

APPENDIX B 

JOB DESCRIPTIONS/CLASSIFICATIONS 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 99 of 101 

APPENDIX C 

RANGE AND STEP SCALE 

  



BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Employee Handbook 
Resolution No. 23R-XX 
Adopted: XX XX, 2023 

Page 100 of 101 

APPENDIX D 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 





July 18, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes 
Approved September 19, 2023 
Page 1 of 3 
 

BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY 
Our Mission - “To provide a high quality supply of water and reliable service to all 

customers at a fair and reasonable rate.” 
Finance/Public Relations/Education and Personnel 

Standing Committee Meeting Minutes 
Committee Members: Director McKenzie & Director Dicht 

 
 

BOARD MEETING OFFICE                                                                             July 18, 2023                        
1720 N. CHEROKEE TR.                                                                                                    Time – 4:00 P.M.  
LANDERS, CALIFORNIA 92284 
 

PUBLIC AND BOARD WISHING TO PARTICIPATE REMOTELY 
**TELECONFERENCE LINE THRU ZOOM 669-900-6833** 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82530413999?pwd=NlhBYk5xNWcyVXVmU2FxK09ablFKUT09 

Passcode: 136750 
Or 

Dial: 1-669-900-6833 
Webinar ID: 825 3041 3999 

Passcode: 136750 

 
--- NOTE ---- 

Director Dicht will attend via teleconference 
From the location identified as 

16 N. Martindale Ave., Ventnor City, New Jersey, 08406 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chair McKenzie called the meeting to order at 4:03 pm. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
Led by Chair McKenzie. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Directors Present:  Chair McKenzie 
   Director Dicht 
 
Staff Present:  Marina West 
   Rosa Carrick 
 
Public Present:  1 member(s) of the public indicated they were participating via teleconference.  
0 members of the public were present in the meeting room.  2 member(s) of the Board were 
present as observers. 

  

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82530413999?pwd=NlhBYk5xNWcyVXVmU2FxK09ablFKUT09


July 18, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes 
Approved September 19, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Director Dicht moved to approve the Agenda as presented. Seconded by Director McKenzie.  
 
Discussion and Action Items -  
 
1. Review Report of “True Bad Debt” Write-off from July 2022 through June 2023 of $1,509.80 

GM West reviewed the staff report in the Agenda Packet and a Powerpoint presentation.   
 
Public Comment:  None. 
 

2. Review Status Report of Bad Debt from Uncollectable Secured Property Tax Liens for 
FY2015/16 
GM West reviewed the staff report in the Agenda Packet and a Powerpoint presentation.   
 
GM West answered questions from the Committee members.  Director Dicht noted that his 
observation is that the Agency, over these seven years, has collected 99.5% of this 2015/16.  
He feels this is a very good indication that this process works. 
 
Public Comment:  None. 
 

3. Review Draft Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency Banking Policy 
GM West reviewed the staff report in the Agenda Packet and a Powerpoint presentation.   
 
Chair McKenzie asked about other staff involved and process questions.  Director Dicht did 
provide comments prior to the meeting for incorporation into the Policy.   
 
Comments received included, whether or not the Board member signature should be 
obtained before or post-transfer with agreement that a signature should be obtained in 
either instance.  In addition, consideration should be given to the Safety, Liquidity, Yield 
framework for agency investment policy.  In particular noting that with interest returns 
becoming possible in these liquid accounts, the nature of banking vs investment starts to 
overlap.  Lastly, does this policy meet the cyber insurance requirements for “wire transfers” 
as defined in their insurance policy.   
 
Public Comment:  None. 
 

4. Consent Items – 
 

a. FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes April 18, 2023 
b. FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes May 17, 2023 



July 18, 2023 FPREP Committee Meeting Minutes 
Approved September 19, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 
 

c. PARS Investment Statement April and May 2023 
d. Grant Status Report as of July 10, 2023 

 
Recommended Action: 
Approve as presented. 
 
Committee approved the Consent Item(s) a thru d. 
 
5. Public Comment Period 

None. 
 
6. Verbal Reports - Including Reports on Courses/Conferences/Meetings. 

1. Committee Members’ Comments/Reports – None. 
2. General Manager’s Report – None. 

 
7. Adjournment 

Chair McKenzie adjourned the meeting at 4:34 pm. 
 
 

 
 

Approved by: 
 
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
JoMarie McKenzie, Committee Chair 

 
 
 
 

Official Seal 
 

 
 





Plan Summary

  Beginning Plan Value as of 06/01/2023 $238,589.11  
  Change in Plan Value $3,643.06  
  Ending Plan Value as of 06/30/2023 $242,232.17  

Activity Summary by Source

Balance on Balance on
Source 06/01/2023 Contributions Earnings Expenses Distributions Transfers 06/30/2023
PENSION $238,589.11 $0.00 $3,759.73 $(116.67) $0.00 $0.00 $242,232.17

Totals $238,589.11 $0.00 $3,759.73 $(116.67) $0.00 $0.00 $242,232.17

Transactions for the Period

Source Date Description Amount
PENSION 06/26/2023 INTER-ACCOUNT TRANSFER IN $49.68
PENSION 06/26/2023 INTER-ACCOUNT TRANSFER OUT $(49.68)
PENSION 06/27/2023 ASSET MGMT FEES $(66.96)
PENSION 06/27/2023 TRUST ADMINISTRATOR FEES $(49.71)
PENSION 06/30/2023 ACCOUNT GAINS/(LOSSES) $3,759.72
PENSION 06/30/2023 ACCOUNT GAINS/(LOSSES) $0.01

Investment Selection

Source Selected Investment
PENSION HighMark Index PLUS Moderately Conservative

Investment Objective

Selected Investment Description

HighMark Index PLUS 
Moderately Conservative

The dual goals of the Moderately Conservative Strategy are current income and moderate capital 
appreciation. The major portion of the assets is committed to income-producing securities. Market 
fluctuations should be expected.

Marina West
BIGHORN-DESERT WATER

Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency PARS PAPEBT

Monthly Account Report for the Period
06/01/2023 to 06/30/2023

4350 Von Karman Ave., Ste. 100, Newport Beach, CA 92660-2043 phone 800.540.6369 fax 949.250.1250 www.pars.org

Page 1 of 2



Investment Performance

Annualized Return Inception
Source 1-Month 3-Month 1-Year 3-Years 5-Years 10-Years Date

PENSION 1.58% 1.29% 3.95% 1.26% - - 06/16/2020

Information as provided by US Bank, Trustee for PARS. Investments are NOT insured by the FDIC or by any other Federal 
Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank affiliate, and MAY lose value, 
including possible loss of principal. Past performance does not guarantee future results. Account balances are inclusive of Trust 
Administration, Trustee and Investment Management fees if applicable. Performance returns may not reflect the deduction of 
applicable fees, which could reduce returns. Annualized Return is the return on an investment over a period other than one year 
multiplied or divided to give a comparable one-year return. Information is deemed reliable but may be subject to change. The plan's 
Rate of Return may differ from the rate of return in the above linked document. Reasons for the difference may include the timing of 
transactions into and out of the plan, the duration of time the plan's funds reside in the sweep account and differences in the 
methodology used to calculate performance.

Marina West
BIGHORN-DESERT WATER

Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency PARS PAPEBT

Monthly Account Report for the Period
06/01/2023 to 06/30/2023

4350 Von Karman Ave., Ste. 100, Newport Beach, CA 92660-2043 phone 800.540.6369 fax 949.250.1250 www.pars.org

Page 2 of 2



Plan Summary

  Beginning Plan Value as of 07/01/2023 $242,232.17  
  Change in Plan Value $2,590.99  
  Ending Plan Value as of 07/31/2023 $244,823.16  

Activity Summary by Source

Balance on Balance on
Source 07/01/2023 Contributions Earnings Expenses Distributions Transfers 07/31/2023
PENSION $242,232.17 $0.00 $2,707.20 $(116.21) $0.00 $0.00 $244,823.16

Totals $242,232.17 $0.00 $2,707.20 $(116.21) $0.00 $0.00 $244,823.16

Transactions for the Period

Source Date Description Amount
PENSION 07/24/2023 ASSET MGMT FEES $(65.74)
PENSION 07/28/2023 INTER-ACCOUNT TRANSFER IN $50.46
PENSION 07/28/2023 INTER-ACCOUNT TRANSFER OUT $(50.46)
PENSION 07/28/2023 TRUST ADMINISTRATOR FEES $(50.47)
PENSION 07/31/2023 ACCOUNT GAINS/(LOSSES) $2,707.20

Investment Selection

Source Selected Investment
PENSION HighMark Index PLUS Moderately Conservative

Investment Objective

Selected Investment Description

HighMark Index PLUS 
Moderately Conservative

The dual goals of the Moderately Conservative Strategy are current income and moderate capital 
appreciation. The major portion of the assets is committed to income-producing securities. Market 
fluctuations should be expected.

Investment Performance

Annualized Return Inception
Source 1-Month 3-Month 1-Year 3-Years 5-Years 10-Years Date

PENSION 1.12% 1.74% 1.33% 0.88% - - 06/16/2020

Marina West
BIGHORN-DESERT WATER

Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency PARS PAPEBT

Monthly Account Report for the Period
07/01/2023 to 07/31/2023

4350 Von Karman Ave., Ste. 100, Newport Beach, CA 92660-2043 phone 800.540.6369 fax 949.250.1250 www.pars.org

Page 1 of 2



Information as provided by US Bank, Trustee for PARS. Investments are NOT insured by the FDIC or by any other Federal 
Government Agency, are NOT Bank deposits, are NOT guaranteed by the Bank or any Bank affiliate, and MAY lose value, 
including possible loss of principal. Past performance does not guarantee future results. Account balances are inclusive of Trust 
Administration, Trustee and Investment Management fees if applicable. Performance returns may not reflect the deduction of 
applicable fees, which could reduce returns. Annualized Return is the return on an investment over a period other than one year 
multiplied or divided to give a comparable one-year return. Information is deemed reliable but may be subject to change. The plan's 
Rate of Return may differ from the rate of return in the above linked document. Reasons for the difference may include the timing of 
transactions into and out of the plan, the duration of time the plan's funds reside in the sweep account and differences in the 
methodology used to calculate performance.

Marina West
BIGHORN-DESERT WATER

Bighorn-Desert View Water Agency PARS PAPEBT

Monthly Account Report for the Period
07/01/2023 to 07/31/2023

4350 Von Karman Ave., Ste. 100, Newport Beach, CA 92660-2043 phone 800.540.6369 fax 949.250.1250 www.pars.org

Page 2 of 2



California CLASS Pool Fact  Sheet  

Part icipat ion is available to any California public agency 
under California Government Code 6500 and 6509.7. 
Investments are made in accordance with California 
Government Code Sect ion 53601 and the California 
CLASS Investment Policies.

Port folio Allocat ion*

Christ ina Turner, Chair
City Manager
City of Morgan Hill

Ryan Clausnitzer, Vice Chair
General Manager
Alameda County Mosquito 
Abatement District

George Harris
Director of Finance
City of Lancaster

Parker R. Hunt
Treasurer/ Tax Collector
Tehama County 
 

Source: Public Trust Advisors® *Data as of June 30, 2023. Data unaudited. Charts may not equal 100% due to rounding. Many factors affect performance including changes 
in market condit ions and interest rates and in response to other economic, polit ical, or financial developments. Investment involves risk including the possible loss of 
principal. No assurance can be given that the performance object ives of a given strategy will be achieved. California CLASS is not a bank. An investment in California CLASS 
is not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit  Insurance Corporat ion or any other government agency. Although the California CLASS Prime Fund seeks to preserve 
the value of your investment at $1.00 per share, it  cannot guarantee it  will do so. The California CLASS Prime Fund is rated 'AAAm' by S&P Global Ratings. A ?AAAm? rat ing 
by S&P Global Ratings is obtained after S&P evaluates a number of factors including credit  quality, market price exposure, and management. For a full descript ion on rat ing 
methodology, please visit  www.spglobal.com. Ratings are subject to change and do not remove credit  risk. Please review the California CLASS Prime Fund Information 
Statement before invest ing.  Past  performance is no guarant ee of fut ure result s. Any f inancial and/or invest ment  decision may incur losses.

California CLASS is a local government investment pool that was created 
under the Joint Powers Act. It  allows eligible public agencies to invest 
their funds in a professionally managed Joint Powers Authority. 

Holist ic cash management  
designed with you in mind 

California CLASS welcomes all public agencies without favor to 
one type. The Board membership represents the diversity of such 
agencies and works to maintain a product that services the needs 
of all California public agencies. 

Visit  us at www.californiaclass.com

The California CLASS portfolio investment strategy 
priorit izes minimizing market risk and enhancing safety 
via diversified investments. Funds of the Part icipants are 
invested in prime or high grade, short-term fixed income 
instruments as illustrated to the left.  We aim to provide 
competit ive yields while adhering to all object ives of 
safety and liquidity.  The California CLASS Prime Fund 
carries a 'AAAm' rat ing from S&P Global Ratings.

California CLASS Board of Trustees Part icipant  Breakdown by Ent ity Type*

California Cooperat ive Liquid Asset s Securit ies Syst em 

https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/
https://www.michiganclass.org/

	BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY
	Our Mission - “To provide a high quality supply of water and reliable service to all customers at a fair and reasonable rate.”
	ADPDDD5.tmp
	BIGHORN DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY
	UEXHIBIT A
	UPREVIOUS Handbook Language (Resolution No. 20R-11)
	7.2 VACATIONS
	7.2 VACATIONS


	ADPE5E2.tmp
	ARTICLE 1.0 GENERAL STATEMENTS
	1.1 SHORT TITLE
	1.2 WORDS AND PHRASES
	1.3 SEPARABILITY
	1.4 EFFECTIVE DATE
	1.5 SUBSEQUENT REVISIONS

	ARTICLE 2.0 INTRODUCTORY POLICIES
	2.1 INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
	2.2 INTEGRATION CLAUSE AND THE RIGHT TO REVISE
	2.3 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
	2.4 EQUAL PAY ACT POLICY
	2.5 POLICY AGAINST HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION, AND RETALIATION
	2.6 REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

	ARTICLE 3.0 EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND PRACTICES
	3.1 AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT
	3.2 NEW HIRES
	3.3 REGULAR EMPLOYEES
	3.4 REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES
	3.5 REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES
	3.6 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES
	3.7 JOB DUTIES
	3.8 WORK SCHEDULES
	3.9 MEAL AND REST PERIODS
	3.10 PERSONNEL RECORDS
	3.11 EMPLOYEE REFERENCES AND VERIFICATIONS OF EMPLOYMENT
	3.12 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS
	3.13 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	3.14 EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES
	3.15 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	3.16 REDUCTIONS IN FORCE
	3.17 TERMINATION AND PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE
	3.18 VOLUNTARY TERMINATION
	3.19 EXPENSES
	3.20 WEAPONS/ANTI-VIOLENCE
	3.21 NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEE USE OF COMMUNICATION DEVICES
	3.22  TELEWORKING POLICY
	3.23 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES FOR CERTAIN TELEWORKING EMPLOYEES

	ARTICLE 4.0 SALARY AND WAGE ADJUSTMENTS
	4.1 SALARY RANGE AND STEP SCHEDULE
	4.2 SALARY ADJUSTMENTS
	4.3 OTHER SALARY ADJUSTMENTS
	4.4 OVERTIME
	4.5 OPERATIONS STANDBY
	4.6 COMPENSATORY TIME
	4.7 PAYMENT OF WAGES
	4.8 ADVANCES
	4.9 SPECIAL ASSIGNMENT COMPENSATION

	ARTICLE 5.0 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT
	5.1 PROHIBITED CONDUCT
	5.2 DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY
	5.3 OFF-DUTY CONDUCT
	5.4 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT
	5.5 PERSONAL STANDARDS
	5.6 CUSTOMER RELATIONS
	5.7 CONFIDENTIALITY
	5.8 BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
	5.9 FRAUD IN THE WORKPLACE

	ARTICLE 6.0 OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS
	6.1 EMPLOYER PROPERTY
	6.2 USE OF AGENCY ELECTRONIC RESOURCES
	6.3 OFF-DUTY USE OF AGENCY’S FACILITIES AND PROPERTY
	6.4 HEALTH AND SAFETY
	6.5 HOUSEKEEPING
	6.6 SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE

	ARTICLE 7.0 EMPLOYEE LEAVES
	7.1 HOLIDAYS
	7.2 VACATIONS
	7.3 SICK LEAVE
	7.4 OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	7.5 CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT LEAVE POLICY
	7.6 LEAVE BECAUSE OF PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH, OR RELATED MEDICAL CONDITION
	7.7 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	7.8 MILITARY LEAVE
	7.9 JURY DUTY LEAVE
	7.10  OTHER COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING APPEARANCES
	7.11 LEAVE FOR VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, SEXUAL ASSAULT, STALKING, OR OTHER CRIMES
	7.12 TIME OFF FOR VOTING
	7.13 CHILD SUSPENSION LEAVE
	7.14  SCHOOL-RELATED LEAVE: SCHOOL OR LICENSED DAY CARE ACTIVITY LEAVE

	ARTICLE 8.0 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
	8.1 HEALTH INSURANCE
	8.2 DISABILITY INSURANCE
	8.3 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION
	8.4 RETIREMENT PLAN
	8.5 SPECIAL COMPENSATION - UNIFORM ALLOWANCE
	8.6 EMPLOYEE OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES
	8.7  STUDENT LOAN ASSISTANCE BENEFIT
	8.8 RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES AND PROGRAMS
	8.9  WORKERS' COMPENSATION
	8.10 DEFINITION OF DOMESTIC PARTNER

	UACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT AND REVIEW OF EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK
	APPENDICES A - D
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D

	ADP1934.tmp
	BIGHORN-DESERT VIEW WATER AGENCY
	Our Mission - “To provide a high quality supply of water and reliable service to all customers at a fair and reasonable rate.”

	CC 3 California CLASS Pool Fact Sheet (Participants) 072023.pdf
	07.23 - California CLASS Pool Fact Sheet - Untitled Page
	Page 1


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

